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 1                      P R O C E E D I N G S
  

 2   Madison County Board of Adjustment Quasi-judicial Public
  

 3   Hearing,
  

 4                  April 24, 2019,
  

 5             (WHEREUPON, the following testimony may contain
  

 6                  unclear or unintelligible speech that was
  

 7                  transcribed as inaudible)
  

 8             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Good evening.  We're calling
  

 9                  this meeting of the Madison County Board of
  

10                  Adjustment back to order.  This is a
  

11                  continuation of the regular Madison County
  

12                  Board of Adjustment meeting.  This is a
  

13                  quasi-judicial hearing which is much like a
  

14                  court proceeding with myself, Karen Kiehna
  

15                  serving as Chair.  Our other members of the
  

16                  Board of Adjustment are Darlyne Rhinehart,
  

17                  Mike Tuziw, Ernest Ramsey, Robert Briggs.
  

18                  Recuse -- the two other members have recused
  

19                  themselves, Rick Molland and Sherry Frisbee.
  

20                       As a quasi-judicial hearing and as such
  

21                  shall be conducted as a court proceeding,
  

22                  please respect the hearing as if you were in
  

23                  court.  If circumstances require the bailiff,
  

24                  we'll bring the hearing back into order.  Our
  

25                  bailiff this evening is Deputy Denton and at
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 1                  some point through the evening it will change
  

 2                  out to Deputy Sluder.
  

 3                       We're ready at this time to continue the
  

 4                  meeting.
  

 5             MR. SNEED:  Madam Chairman, I've got two out-of-
  

 6                  town witnesses which I hope will not have to
  

 7                  stay here, and I can get them out of here.
  

 8                  And I've talked to opposing counsel and he's
  

 9                  agreed that if you would allow, to suspend
  

10                  cross-examination of Mr. Reed and let me put
  

11                  these two witnesses on?
  

12             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  We are in agreement.
  

13             MR. SNEED:  Thank you.  I'll call Carlos Cardenas.
  

14                       And I've tried to set this easel up as
  

15                  best I could to make it work.  If there's a
  

16                  problem for any of the board members, please,
  

17                  let me know.
  

18                       CARLOS CARDENAS, being first duly
  

19   identified and sworn was examined and testified as follows:
  

20   D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N  BY MR. SNEED:
  

21   Q.   Mr. Cardenas, if you would please tell the Court your
  

22        home address.
  

23   A.   I live in Fort Wayne, Indiana.
  

24   Q.   Fort where?
  

25   A.   Fort Wayne, Indiana.
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 1   Q.   Fort Wayne, Indiana.  And what is your occupation?
  

 2   A.   I am a sales engineer for Asphalt Drum Mixers.
  

 3   Q.   How long have you worked for Asphalt Drum Mixers?
  

 4   A.   Since 1994.
  

 5   Q.   And what sorts of work have you done for them?
  

 6   A.   I started in the shop welding.  I've done assembly,
  

 7        electrical work.  I moved into service and from there I
  

 8        was promoted into sales.  And then, for a short time, I
  

 9        was in charge of the electric engineering and then when
  

10        we hired another electrical engineer I got put back
  

11        into sales as a sales engineer.
  

12   Q.   All right.  Now, you, in that occupation, are you
  

13        involved with noise levels?
  

14   A.   Yeah, we look at those every time something like this
  

15        happens, so --
  

16   Q.   How much noise is there at the asphalt plant when it's
  

17        in operation?
  

18   A.   The loudest piece of equipment that we have would be
  

19        the burn blower.  The second loudest would be the
  

20        exhaust fan.
  

21   Q.   The what?
  

22   A.   The exhaust fan.
  

23   Q.   The exhaust fan?
  

24   A.   Yes.  That's the part of the equipment that pulls out
  

25        the combustion gas.
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 1   Q.   And what's the noise level if you're standing right
  

 2        there at the fans?
  

 3   A.   So at the burner blower the levels have been tested at
  

 4        about three meters, which is equivalent to about 10
  

 5        feet and they're about 98 decibels.
  

 6   Q.   All right.  What about the other?
  

 7   A.   The fan is somewhere between 94 and 96; that depends
  

 8        somewhat on temperature.
  

 9   Q.   And how does noise diminish as you move further away
  

10        from it?
  

11   A.   The inverse square law, which is the way they calculate
  

12        any kind of energy wave, being light, sound or anything
  

13        like that, for every double the distance the spread, or
  

14        the potential of the wave decreases by square of the
  

15        distance.
  

16   Q.   So if you -- if you go out two feet, it's down to a
  

17        fourth, two squared.  If you go out three feet, it's
  

18        now to a ninth of what it was?
  

19   A.   The distance?
  

20   Q.   Yeah, or have I got the distances wrong?
  

21   A.   Yes, sir.
  

22   Q.   Okay.  Give me the distance.
  

23   A.   No, it's -- it's just like this.
  

24   Q.   It goes down to the square of the distance so --
  

25   A.   Yes.  Every time you go the distance it squares.
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 1   Q.   All right.  So at 500 feet the noise is one 25,000th?
  

 2   A.   I -- I can't do that in my head, I guess.
  

 3   Q.   Well, 500 times 500.  All right.  So if you can't do
  

 4        that what would it be in decibels at 800 feet?
  

 5   A.   Fifty-four, 56 decibels.
  

 6   Q.   Okay.  And that assumes that a clear open space is the
  

 7        sound travels?
  

 8   A.   With no obstructions, a clear path, yeah.
  

 9   Q.   And what's the equivalent of a human experience of 54,
  

10        56 decibels?
  

11   A.   Maybe a AC unit.
  

12   Q.   And outdoor HVAC unit?
  

13   A.   Yeah.
  

14   Q.   And if there are trees and terrain in between where you
  

15        are and the end point will the noise diminish even
  

16        more?
  

17   A.   Those are considered natural sound barriers.
  

18   Q.   Have you visited the site?
  

19   A.   I've been to the quarry, yes, sir.
  

20   Q.   And can you generally describe the terrain around the
  

21        quarry, the site for the asphalt plant?
  

22   A.   Yeah, there's, I guess, the -- there's a ridge all
  

23        around it, I guess, except for one area where it goes
  

24        down into the --
  

25   Q.   To the quarry where the crusher is?
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 1   A.   Yeah.
  

 2   Q.   And was the crusher running when you were out there?
  

 3   A.   Yes, sir.
  

 4   Q.   Could you hear it as you came into the quarry?
  

 5   A.   No, as we were driving by it in the truck we couldn't
  

 6        hear the crusher running until we rolled the windows
  

 7        down.
  

 8   Q.   Until you rolled the windows down?
  

 9   A.   Uh-huh.
  

10   Q.   Now, when you got down in the asphalt plant site, could
  

11        you hear the quarry?
  

12   A.   No.
  

13   Q.   You couldn't hear the crusher?
  

14   A.   No, there's a mound of aggregate that as you come
  

15        around that mound, the sound even with the windows down
  

16        is basically non-existent.
  

17   Q.   So based on your experience did you have an opinion of
  

18        what level of sound the asphalt plant will produce at
  

19        800 feet with trees and a ridge in between?
  

20             MR. GULDEN:  I mean, I guess I'm going to object
  

21                  to that opinion.  No foundation, no
  

22                  qualifications.  I mean, we just know he's a
  

23                  sales engineer.
  

24   Q.   Well, I'll go all through it, but what -- what have you
  

25        done with respect to sound levels in your job?
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 1   A.   Just calculated sound distances like that using
  

 2        calculators that are -- would be able to --
  

 3   Q.   And have you gone out and measured sound levels?
  

 4   A.   Yeah, in some places we have, yes.
  

 5   Q.   I think that is in his general experience.
  

 6             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  That is not his specialty as an
  

 7                  engineer, though.
  

 8   Q.   It's part of your work, isn't it?
  

 9   A.   It's a small part, yes.
  

10             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I'm going to sustain.
  

11   Q.   Okay.  So can you tell me whether or not it would be
  

12        less than 56 decibels if you can't -- even if you can't
  

13        tell me how much less?
  

14   A.   Yeah, I would imagine it's going to be a lot less
  

15        because of the trees and the natural sound --
  

16   Q.   And you took out your sound meter last night in your
  

17        house where you're staying, right?
  

18   A.   Yes.
  

19   Q.   And what was the sound level at that house?
  

20   A.   It got up to about 49 decibels.
  

21   Q.   And what was making that sound?
  

22   A.   The refrigerator and the air conditioner.
  

23   Q.   Now, you're familiar with the counterflow drum mixer?
  

24   A.   Yes.
  

25   Q.   If I may, I'm going to hand you an Exhibit 14 and ask
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 1        you if you can --
  

 2             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 14 was marked
  

 3                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

 4                  for review)
  

 5   Q.   Can you identify it?
  

 6   A.   Yeah, it's a flow diagram I created for one of our --
  

 7        Rock to Road Magazine.
  

 8   Q.   So it's up on the screen, starting at the left, would
  

 9        you explain to the board how it works from left to
  

10        right.
  

11   A.   Okay.  So on the left it is the combustion equipment;
  

12        it's the burner and the burner blower.  The burner
  

13        extends inside that drum up to the collar where it says
  

14        scrap and filter -- for filler entries, sorry.
  

15   Q.   All right.  So --
  

16   A.   So that the nose of the burner is -- it's at that point
  

17        and the flame begins beyond that.  Okay.  So the flame
  

18        goes in that direction as also the gases.  On the
  

19        right-hand side there's a material entry.  Material
  

20        entry is where the material goes into, goes in and
  

21        flows in the --
  

22   Q.   What type of material goes in there?
  

23   A.   Aggregate.
  

24   Q.   The aggregate?
  

25   A.   Yes.
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 1   Q.   And it's damp, right?
  

 2   A.   Yes.
  

 3   Q.   And so you put it in and it moves against the flow of
  

 4        the heat?
  

 5   A.   Yes, in a counter current.
  

 6   Q.   In a counterflow fashion?
  

 7   A.   Yes.
  

 8   Q.   And it dries out as it gets closer to the burner?
  

 9   A.   Right.  From the -- from the entry all the way up to
  

10        where that recycle collar is, it is considered the
  

11        drying, the drying zone.  That's where all the drying
  

12        takes place.  Beyond that point, so once the material
  

13        passes the flame, that's where the mixing continues.
  

14             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Mr. Sneed, could he, your
  

15                  witness come down and point these items out?
  

16             MR. SNEED:  Yes.
  

17             (WHEREUPON, the witness steps down to the easel in
  

18                  front of the board members)
  

19             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And you'll have to speak up.
  

20             THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's fine.
  

21   A.   So this is the burner and right here is the recycle
  

22        collar so this is where RAP, or recycled asphalt
  

23        pavement will be put in.  The flame is -- begins right
  

24        about here, the material flows here and it gets, you
  

25        know, turned, the (inaudible) is dry so it gets turned
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 1        around like this and it creates a bale of material and
  

 2        as the hot gases pass through there it dries them.  So
  

 3        once the material gets beyond this flame, that's where
  

 4        the injection point is for the asphalt -- right.  On a
  

 5        typical parallel flow plant where the material comes in
  

 6        the same direction as the airflow, the injection point
  

 7        would be back here.  So the flame can reach the asphalt
  

 8        and then it creates some blue smoke.  This -- this
  

 9        design eliminates that.
  

10   Q.   Eliminates the blue smoke?
  

11   A.   Yes.  Eliminates the blue smoke created inside the
  

12        dryer.  It also, you know, based on operation on a
  

13        parallel flow plant, if you get the aggregate too hot,
  

14        obviously that increases those molecules.  On this
  

15        material on this -- in this process no matter how hot
  

16        you get the aggregate (inaudible) it just heats the
  

17        aggregate.
  

18   Q.   All right.  Now, the airflow --
  

19             MR. GULDEN:  If I can ask him what he just said?
  

20                  I didn't -- what did you say after it reduces
  

21                  the blue smoke and then you trailed off.
  

22             THE WITNESS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  So after this point
  

23                  right here, if you overheat the aggregate on
  

24                  this type of system, it doesn't affect the
  

25                  creation of blue smoke because the mixing is
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 1                  done behind the plant.
  

 2             MR. GULDEN:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 3   Q.   Now, and then the exhaust goes -- where does the
  

 4        exhaust and the air --
  

 5   A.   So all the air gets pulled in through here.  The
  

 6        pressure comes in through here and through the blower.
  

 7        This air that goes into the blower gets pressurized and
  

 8        it helps atomize the fuel oil so it presses down and
  

 9        makes small particles so they can combust correctly.
  

10        And the air flows all the way through here, it comes
  

11        out this, there will be a ductwork from this
  

12        (inaudible) and then back here will be the filter, the
  

13        baghouse.  And then all the air goes this way, comes
  

14        down, goes through the filters and then up the stack --
  

15   Q.   All right.  Now -- you can go back up, if you will.
  

16             (WHEREUPON, the witness returns to the stand)
  

17             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer to introduce Exhibit 14.
  

18             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 14 was
  

19                  offered into evidence)
  

20   Q.   Mr. Cardenas, are you familiar with all the equipment
  

21        that will be installed at this site?
  

22   A.   Yes.  All the stuff that they're making, yes.
  

23   Q.   All right.  What is the highest piece of equipment from
  

24        the ground?
  

25   A.   The silo will be the highest point.
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 1   Q.   Where do you measure the top of it?
  

 2   A.   It will be the highest point.  So the drag elevator
  

 3        sits on top of the silo in this fashion, so at the peak
  

 4        of that is where the heights are measured.
  

 5   Q.   So you measure the height to the peak of the drag
  

 6        elevator?
  

 7   A.   Uh-huh.
  

 8   Q.   And what is that height?
  

 9   A.   If I'm not mistaken it's 49 and a half feet.
  

10   Q.   Is anything else in these structures higher than that?
  

11   A.   No.
  

12   Q.   That's all.
  

13             MR. BRIGGS:  Can I ask a question?
  

14             MR. SNEED:  Sure.
  

15             MR. BRIGGS:  How old is the technology on this --
  

16             THE WITNESS:  How old is the technology?
  

17             MR. BRIGGS:  Yeah, I mean, like in its current
  

18                  design, is this state-of-the-art?  Is this
  

19                  five-year-old, ten-year-old?
  

20             THE WITNESS:  This is the latest technology for
  

21                  drying, the counterflow.
  

22             MR. BRIGGS:  How long has this particular --
  

23             THE WITNESS:  It's been around probably 20 years.
  

24             MR. BRIGGS:  So this design is 20 years old?
  

25             THE WITNESS:  Yes, but it's the most current
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 1                  design for drying.  There's another design
  

 2                  which is a double drum.  There's a double
  

 3                  barrel, a triple barrel.  Everyone's trying
  

 4                  to do different things, but this is the most
  

 5                  popular and most common because it's the one
  

 6                  that works the best.
  

 7             MR. BRIGGS:  Is this the most environmental-
  

 8                  friendly design?
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  Yes, as far as an asphalt plant is
  

10                  concerned.
  

11             MR. BRIGGS:  Is it a sealed unit?  I mean, is it,
  

12                  you're talking about everything goes to the
  

13                  baghouse which is a --
  

14             THE WITNESS:  Everything goes through the
  

15                  baghouse.  All the airflow through there is
  

16                  sealed up until it goes outside the stack.
  

17             MR. SNEED:  Answer his questions if you would.
  

18             MR. GULDEN:  Oh, thank you, Mr. Sneed.  I didn't
  

19                  realize you were done.
  

20   C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N  BY MR. GULDEN:
  

21   Q.   Mr. Cardenas, you said you're from Fort Wayne, Indiana?
  

22   A.   Yes, sir.
  

23   Q.   Are there mountains and ridges around Fort Wayne?
  

24   A.   No.
  

25   Q.   No?  Is it pretty flat?  And so your experience -- what
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 1        experience do you have considering noise levels in
  

 2        mountainous terrain?
  

 3   A.   Well, for the last 22 years I've been traveling all
  

 4        over the world setting up these asphalt plants.  I've
  

 5        been to mountainous areas in Mexico, Guatemala,
  

 6        Salvador.
  

 7   Q.   And so you're aware that your little reduction formula
  

 8        that you were talking about may not necessarily occur
  

 9        in mountainous terrain?
  

10   A.   It is a formula that's calculated in an open field, I
  

11        mean, open area, there's -- with no obstructions,
  

12        that's all --
  

13   Q.   That's right.  So -- so you've been in mountainous
  

14        terrain and you've yelled across a valley and you can
  

15        hear your, what's it called, echo?
  

16   A.   Sure.
  

17   Q.   Sure.  Right.  And so the farther it goes away doesn't
  

18        necessarily mean that there's a total reduction in the
  

19        sound that you're hearing?
  

20   A.   Well, what you hear when you an echo is the reflection
  

21        of that sound coming back to --
  

22   Q.   Correct.  And so when you're in a mountainous terrain
  

23        and you have a burner blower putting out 98 decibels
  

24        which is -- which is what, it's kind of like an
  

25        auditorium or concert hall, right?  Like 98 decibels is
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 1        like really loud, right?  That probably wasn't even 98
  

 2        decibels.
  

 3   A.   I would not think so.
  

 4   Q.   Right.  So you've got that burner throwing off 98
  

 5        decibels in a mountainous terrain where houses are
  

 6        sitting at or above the level of the asphalt plant, is
  

 7        it your testimony that those individuals aren't going
  

 8        to be able to hear it?
  

 9   A.   I don't know, I've never done any sound tests at those
  

10        areas.
  

11   Q.   So --
  

12   A.   The only thing I know is that the crusher is probably
  

13        about 110 decibels and if you don't hear it crushing
  

14        there you won't hear the asphalt plant.
  

15   Q.   So -- so you're saying -- so if I stand back here and
  

16        talk to you, could you hear what I was saying?
  

17   A.   I heard you.
  

18   Q.   Okay.  Right.  So if you've got your crusher in an area
  

19        down into a pit and you're up and far away with items
  

20        in between, you're saying that's the same or similar
  

21        sound that individuals in and around the area are going
  

22        to hear?
  

23   A.   Now, the crusher is.
  

24   Q.   Yeah, as the crusher.
  

25   A.   The crusher --
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 1   Q.   So what about the way that sound --
  

 2             MR. SNEED:  I didn't hear --
  

 3   A.   It will be less because the crusher is louder.
  

 4   Q.   Right so the crusher's louder.  Are you saying that
  

 5        there's going to be no net increase in noise?
  

 6   A.   No, there will be.
  

 7   Q.   Oh, okay.
  

 8   A.   I can't tell you how much right off the top of my head
  

 9        but there will be.
  

10   Q.   Right.  On a flat plain with nothing around in Fort
  

11        Wayne, Indiana, if you're running 98 decibels, the
  

12        further you move away, the less loud that will be?
  

13   A.   Yes.
  

14   Q.   Not considering terrain or anything at all?
  

15   A.   Not considering sound barriers or mountains or anything
  

16        like that.
  

17   Q.   When you went and did your study of this crusher in the
  

18        plan, did you happen to go around to any of the
  

19        surrounding roads in the Coates community?
  

20   A.   No.  What -- we just drove, you know, in the area --
  

21   Q.   You just drove through the area.  So realistically
  

22        you're here not telling the board that the neighbors
  

23        aren't going to be able to hear it; you're here saying
  

24        if this was in Fort Wayne, Indiana and you were 800
  

25        feet away, 98 decibels would reduce to 54 decibels?
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 1   A.   Yeah.
  

 2   Q.   Okay.  And 54 decibels according to land use
  

 3        compatibility guidelines, 54 decibels is similar to
  

 4        transient lodges, motels and hotels?
  

 5   A.   If that's what they're comparing it to, I guess it is.
  

 6   Q.   Okay.  And they're also comparing it to sports arenas
  

 7        and outdoor spectator sports.
  

 8   A.   I didn't -- I don't know what chart you're looking at
  

 9        sir --
  

10   Q.   Okay.  And what about firing ranges, what decibels are
  

11        you going to hear firing ranges?
  

12   A.   I don't know.
  

13   Q.   Okay.  You talked about this, and you'll have to
  

14        forgive me, it was -- what was it called again?
  

15   A.   It's a counterflow asphalt plant.
  

16   Q.   Yeah, this right here, the counterflow asphalt plant.
  

17        You're familiar -- strike that.
  

18             Let me ask, is that like a drum mixer?
  

19   A.   Yeah.
  

20   Q.   That's what that is?  Is that the --
  

21   A.   Yeah, I mean, it's called a drum mixer because it's a
  

22        drum and it mixes material in it.
  

23   Q.   Different than a batch plant?
  

24   A.   It's different than a batch plant.
  

25   Q.   Okay.  And I don't know -- and I apologize if I'm
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 1        calling these things wrong.  But so this is not a what,
  

 2        drum mixer, right?  When you set up the drum mixer,
  

 3        you're talking about airflow being vented through all
  

 4        of these items, right?  It starts here, the aggregate
  

 5        gets dumped in, it dries it, it mixes it.  You
  

 6        indicated on direct examination that the airflow is
  

 7        vented to the baghouse.
  

 8   A.   Yes.
  

 9   Q.   And then where does -- where does the airflow go from
  

10        the baghouse?
  

11   A.   It goes through the filters and it goes out the stack.
  

12   Q.   Out -- out the stack.  Do you sell and RAP, the -- I
  

13        guess RAP's not the right word.  Do you sell these
  

14        baghouses too?
  

15   A.   Yes.
  

16   Q.   That's part of your company sale to the Applicant, Mr.
  

17        Reed?
  

18   A.   Yes.
  

19   Q.   And those baghouses, they're pretty effective?
  

20   A.   Yes.
  

21   Q.   On catching -- but they don't catch all the particulate
  

22        matter, do they?
  

23   A.   I mean, it's not going to.  I can't say that it's all.
  

24   Q.   Right.  So the particulate matter that's less than 2.5,
  

25        whatever that, and I can't remember the term, micro --
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 1   A.   Microns?
  

 2   Q.   Microns.  Does it catch all of those?
  

 3   A.   It catches most materials over 200 microns and
  

 4        sometimes less.
  

 5   Q.   Okay.  Those baghouses right there, they're capable of
  

 6        catching fire, right?
  

 7   A.   Yeah, as is this building.
  

 8   Q.   Yeah.  I mean, because really, realistically all you
  

 9        need is the fuel, oxygen and maybe a spark.  And then
  

10        in that baghouse you've got a lot of -- a lot of static
  

11        electricity -- static electricity?  You have some?  You
  

12        don't know?
  

13   A.   No, I don't think so.
  

14   Q.   You have a lot of fuel, you have all of the particulate
  

15        matters getting caught up on the bags themselves?
  

16   A.   There's typically no fuel going into the baghouse.
  

17   Q.   No, I'm not talking about like gasoline; I'm talking
  

18        about, there's no fuel in this building but it could go
  

19        up because that door, wooden door is fuel.
  

20   A.   Right.
  

21   Q.   In that sense.  So there's items that are combustible
  

22        inside that baghouse?
  

23   A.   Yeah.
  

24   Q.   All right.  And we're next to a -- well, and then you
  

25        have oxygen because you have the airflow going through
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 1        there.  You ever heard of a baghouse catching fire?
  

 2   A.   Yes.
  

 3   Q.   Yeah.  Did you hear about the one down in, and I said
  

 4        Union County yesterday if you were here yesterday, did
  

 5        you -- strike that, I said Watauga County.
  

 6             Did you hear about the fire in the baghouse in
  

 7        Union County, South Carolina last month?
  

 8   A.   No.
  

 9   Q.   Was that your product, do you know?
  

10   A.   I don't know if that's my product, I don't know what
  

11        the company name is.
  

12   Q.   And part of your job you go out and help assist and set
  

13        these units up, right?
  

14   A.   That was my previous job, yes.
  

15   Q.   Okay.  So you do have some experience in setting them
  

16        up?
  

17   A.   Yes.
  

18   Q.   And you know that on these drums, you know like, store
  

19        or recycle asphalt pavement out there in the open air?
  

20   A.   Yes.
  

21   Q.   Do you know that if this -- is this site going to be
  

22        any different?
  

23   A.   I wouldn't think so.
  

24   Q.   They store their aggregate out in bins out in the open
  

25        air?
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 1   A.   Yes.
  

 2   Q.   They run trucks up and down on the road and this one,
  

 3        if you don't take my word for it, I can show it, it's
  

 4        going to be a dirt road, so they're running trucks up
  

 5        and down that dirt road.  They've got loaders digging
  

 6        out the aggregate, right?  This is how the whole
  

 7        process works.  Do you know, can you tell this board of
  

 8        adjustments, on a drum mixed asphalt plant where there
  

 9        will be open dust emissions?
  

10   A.   Typically at the loading of the bins where the
  

11        aggregate is and some where the conveyors transfer from
  

12        one to another.
  

13   Q.   What about on the truck loadout?
  

14   A.   Are you talking about dust emissions or are you talking
  

15        --
  

16   Q.   Yeah, open dust emissions.
  

17   A.   No, not at the truck loadout.  At the truck loadout,
  

18        it's hot so there's no dust.
  

19   Q.   The recycled asphalt conveyor, you're going to have
  

20        open dust emissions?
  

21   A.   Typically not because the aggregate's covered with
  

22        asphalt because what's called recycled asphalt is
  

23        already made.  It's mix that's already been made.
  

24   Q.   You're saying that there's no dust or anything that is
  

25        generated from the recycled asphalt?  No open dust
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 1        emissions?
  

 2   A.   Well, there might be particles that come off the RAP,
  

 3        but they wouldn't go very far.
  

 4   Q.   What about the loaders, loading the trucks running up
  

 5        and down the gravel road, will you have dust emissions
  

 6        there?
  

 7   A.   The loaders loading what trucks?  I'm sorry.
  

 8   Q.   Or the -- strike that.
  

 9             The loaders loading the conveyors with the RAP or
  

10        the aggregate.
  

11   A.   I already mentioned that.
  

12   Q.   Did you?
  

13   A.   The bins, yeah, the aggregate bins being loaded.
  

14   Q.   And then loading them into the bins themselves.  What
  

15        about dumping the aggregate there, is that going to
  

16        create some dust?
  

17   A.   You mean the aggregate at a site?
  

18   Q.   Yeah.
  

19   A.   From the trucks?
  

20   Q.   From the trucks.
  

21   A.   Probably.
  

22   Q.   Yeah.  And then the recycled asphalt pavement generates
  

23        more combustive emissions when it's moved or dumped off
  

24        a truck at the site?
  

25   A.   Right.  I mean, the recycled material is no different
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 1        than the road that you drive on.  So if there's dust on
  

 2        the road --
  

 3   Q.   The road.
  

 4   A.   The road.
  

 5             MR. SNEED:  The road?  Okay.
  

 6   A.   So it's already made, the pavement, right, so if you go
  

 7        outside and you walk on a road, if you see dust coming
  

 8        off of it, it's probably not from the road.  Because
  

 9        the material's already coated with asphalt.
  

10   Q.   Right.  But they don't bring those recycled asphalt
  

11        pavements in big, 3,000-mile stretches of road.  Don't
  

12        they have a big machine with like a chain on or
  

13        something that just grinds it all up into small little
  

14        aggregate particles?
  

15   A.   It's a mill, RAP.
  

16   Q.   Yeah, right.  So it's not like you're just taking a big
  

17        chunk out of asphalt out of a road, you're grinding it
  

18        down into a much finer particle.  That's the recycled
  

19        asphalt product.
  

20   A.   They don't grind it, that part.
  

21   Q.   So you're saying you're going to dump a four-by-four
  

22        square of asphalt into your burner, I hear?
  

23   A.   No.
  

24   Q.   So there are -- so how big is --
  

25   A.   They're smaller -- smaller chunks, maybe two, three
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 1        inches, inch and a half.  That's what usually comes
  

 2        off.
  

 3   Q.   You had indicated you have a elevation profile of this
  

 4        silo and the conveyor belt on it, did you bring that up
  

 5        with you?
  

 6   A.   It's not up here, no.
  

 7   Q.   Oh, do you have one?
  

 8   A.   It's in the, I think it's in the application.
  

 9   Q.   The elevation profile?
  

10   A.   I don't have it, no.
  

11   Q.   And so do you know what --
  

12   A.   It's in --
  

13   Q.   -- model number you're using?  Which one's 49.5 feet?
  

14   A.   Yes, it's the silo we're quoting; it's our 100-ton
  

15        silo.
  

16   Q.   Did you bring it with you?  I just want to see the
  

17        elevation profile, do you have it with you?
  

18   A.   I don't have it with me.  I don't.  I think he had a
  

19        copy.
  

20   Q.   Do you have a book or anything with you, that sales
  

21        book that would have it in there?
  

22   A.   No.
  

23   Q.   And so the silo itself includes the stilts that the
  

24        trucks go under, right?
  

25   A.   Yes.
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 1   Q.   How tall are those stilts?
  

 2   A.   Twelve, maybe 12 feet, 12 and a half feet.
  

 3   Q.   High enough that a truck can go underneath it and a
  

 4        funnel can pour down into there.  So how big then is
  

 5        the funnel that's attached to the bottom of the silo?
  

 6   A.   Probably 12 foot in diameter by I want to say, six-foot
  

 7        top.
  

 8   Q.   And then the silo itself that holds the 100 tons of hot
  

 9        mix asphalt, I mean, how tall are those, just the
  

10        actual silo, if I was talking about the silo itself?
  

11   Q.   I'm not sure.  I know that there's some, the rings that
  

12        we use are 10 feet.  I don't know the exact -- the
  

13        exact distance of what the silos are.
  

14   Q.   And then on -- and then on top of that is, I don't
  

15        know, some kind of safety measure, right?  Some kind of
  

16        safety measure so people that are up there, if
  

17        anybody's up there they don't fall off, they just -- is
  

18        there, is it a cage or --
  

19   A.   There's -- there's handrails and then there's a
  

20        bannister around the side.
  

21   Q.   All right.  And then how tall is that?
  

22   A.   Whatever the regulations are for OSHA.  I'm not sure if
  

23        it's 38 inches or something around there.
  

24   Q.   And then the conveyor belt -- well, strike that.
  

25             Then the, what did you call it, I can't remember
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 1        what you called it.
  

 2   A.   The drag conveyor?
  

 3   Q.   Yeah, the drag conveyor sticks up further than that?
  

 4   A.   Yes, sir.
  

 5   Q.   All of that together is 49.5 feet?
  

 6   A.   Yes.
  

 7   Q.   If the silos are -- they're 35, are they about 35 feet,
  

 8        those silos, the 100 -- I mean, I wish you just had the
  

 9        profile.  I wish you had the elevation profile.
  

10   A.   I don't have it.  I'm sorry.  I sent -- I sent it to
  

11        the customer when he requested it.  I did not bring my
  

12        -- it was part of the, I believe, the application.
  

13   Q.   All right.  The --
  

14   A.   It doesn't have -- it doesn't have this -- just so
  

15        you're clear, it doesn't have the dimensions of the
  

16        cylinder or the cone or the rails or anything like
  

17        that.  It just has the distance from zero level, or
  

18        zero elevation to the very top, highest point of the
  

19        plant, that's what it is, which is the 49 and a half
  

20        feet.
  

21   Q.   The material you used to make hot mix asphalt -- well,
  

22        is any of it -- strike that.
  

23             The hot mix asphalt itself, is it regulated?  Does
  

24        it have an MSDS sheet, like a material safety data
  

25        sheet?
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 1   A.   I guess it depends if it's -- if it's a polymer type of
  

 2        material.  MSDS sheets are created for any chemical so
  

 3        I would imagine that they have one.
  

 4   Q.   But you -- but you wouldn't know that?
  

 5   A.   I've never looked or asked for one to see, no.
  

 6   Q.   Okay.  The plant setup, what's the requirement that
  

 7        it's supposed to have some kind of corrosive material
  

 8        or eyewash and body washing device?
  

 9   A.   I don't know those regulations and I apologize.  I'm
  

10        not --
  

11   Q.   You don't sell that kind of material --
  

12   A.   Uh-uh, no.
  

13   Q.   -- right?  You understand that like, if you get
  

14        something corrosive in your eye you're supposed to wash
  

15        it out?
  

16   A.   I don't know at what distance it has to be or if it has
  

17        to have one or anything like that.  I have no idea.  I
  

18        don't know those regulations.
  

19   Q.   All right.  You don't know if it has to be required or
  

20        anything at the asphalt plant?
  

21   A.   I do not.
  

22   Q.   You said, in a question from one of the board members,
  

23        state-of-the-art, you answered, yes it's state-of-the-
  

24        art.  What does that mean to you?
  

25   A.   Well, I -- I just simply stated that it was the latest
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 1        technology that's available for -- for drying process
  

 2        for asphalt plants.
  

 3   Q.   And it's 20 years -- 20 years old?
  

 4
  

 5   A.   About.
  

 6   Q.   And there are, I mean, you realize that there are
  

 7        emissions that come out of all of these things, the
  

 8        burner, the baghouse --
  

 9   A.   Yes.
  

10   Q.   Do you know anything about those?
  

11   A.   I couldn't tell you.  I know (inaudible).  I know
  

12        there's emissions, I know we do tests.  But usually we
  

13        have professionals like RTC doing the testing, so we
  

14        don't do the testing.
  

15   Q.   Okay.  The conveyor that you spoke about, I'm going to
  

16        hand to you what's marked as Plaintiff's or Applicant's
  

17        Exhibit 16 and just ask you, is this a -- well, can you
  

18        identify that?
  

19             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 16 was marked
  

20                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

21                  for review)
  

22   A.   That looks like a diagram of a parallel flow plant.
  

23   Q.   Is that different than the plant that you're submitting
  

24        to the applicant?
  

25   A.   Yes, sir.
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 1   Q.   Are the -- the conveyors, and the reason I was handing
  

 2        that up to you --
  

 3   A.   The only -- the only difference is what I was
  

 4        explaining earlier, as the flow of the material and the
  

 5        flow of the gases.
  

 6   Q.   All right.  And if I can ask you to just come down
  

 7        here, I'll put this up.
  

 8             (WHEREUPON, the witness steps down to the easel in
  

 9                  front of the board members)
  

10   Q.   Other than what you explained to the board right there,
  

11        this plant is sufficiently similar to what you'll be
  

12        selling to or what will be installed out here, is that
  

13        correct?
  

14   A.   Yeah.  So the similarities are the silo, the drag
  

15        conveyor, the control house, the RAP system here, the
  

16        --
  

17             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Can you speak louder, please?
  

18   A.   Okay.  The similarities are the silo, the drag
  

19        conveyor, the control house, the RAP system here, the
  

20        aggregate feed fences, the tanks for storing fuel and
  

21        asphalt, the baghouse filter and, I believe, this is
  

22        the lime silo that we don't have (inaudible).
  

23   Q.   And where we're talking about open dust emissions, if
  

24        you can -- well, if you can point out to the board
  

25        where those open dust emissions will come in.
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 1   A.   The open dust emissions will be created in the bins
  

 2        they fill, right here, at transitions between layers.
  

 3        So say at this point here when it travels from this
  

 4        conveyor to this conveyor and if there's a conveyor
  

 5        here, which it kind of looks like, I can't tell.  But
  

 6        if there's a conveyor there then you're going to see
  

 7        dust there.
  

 8   Q.   And what about -- what is that bin right there?
  

 9   A.   This one here?
  

10   Q.   Yeah, the coal feed.
  

11   A.   That's the RAP.
  

12             MR. SNEED:  RAP?
  

13   Q.   That's the one that we talked about.
  

14   A.   The recycled asphalt -- that goes in here.  So they
  

15        would be -- there is dust.  It would be here
  

16        (inaudible).
  

17   Q.   So those conveyors that you were just talking about,
  

18        out of that coal bin or RAP, are those conveyor belts
  

19        enclosed?
  

20   A.   These conveyors?
  

21   Q.   Yeah.  No, those are open?
  

22   A.   Right.
  

23   Q.   Which conveyor is closed?  That --
  

24   A.   This one.
  

25   Q.   And that's --
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 1   A.   The drag conveyor.  That's one that's enclosed; this is
  

 2        the one that would have the steam or the smoke off the
  

 3        asphalt, any kind of -- that's what that -- so that's
  

 4        enclosed.  The hoppers that are up here, those are
  

 5        enclosed, right.  So the only open area is here and
  

 6        here.
  

 7   Q.   And right there where the trucks are coming underneath,
  

 8        that's a gravel road, trucks rolling over that gravel
  

 9        road --
  

10   A.   There's a truck scale that's over here to weigh the
  

11        dirt.
  

12   Q.   Okay.  And then on either side and probably both roads
  

13        will have open dust emissions?
  

14   A.   I don't know that.  I don't know what's going to be
  

15        gravel, it's going to be paved or what.
  

16   Q.   What's the control center?
  

17   A.   That's where the controls are for the --
  

18   Q.   What's in it?  Is there --
  

19   A.   Switch -- switches, (inaudible).
  

20   Q.   Okay.  Just electrical?
  

21   A.   Electrical (inaudible) --
  

22             THE REPORTER:  I'm having a hard time hearing him.
  

23             MR. GULDEN:  Oh, I'm sorry.
  

24             MR. SNEED:  You need -- you need to speak up
  

25                  louder.
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 1   Q.   So just control panels.  I mean, electrical --
  

 2   A.   It's all -- it's all electrical stuff.  There's an air
  

 3        conditioner unit that box here.
  

 4   Q.   And on the plan that your -- that you submitted to the
  

 5        Applicant, are the fuel tank and the asphalt cement
  

 6        tank, are those vertical or horizontal?
  

 7   A.   Those are vertical.
  

 8   Q.   Those are vertical?
  

 9   A.   Yes.
  

10   Q.   There was -- an are they basically the same
  

11        circumference?
  

12   A.   They're about the same circumference; the ones that are
  

13        on that plan are.  I'm not sure if the fuel tank is
  

14        exactly like that but they were -- they were put on
  

15        there by engineers which came to the site.
  

16   Q.   This is what I was going to ask you about next.
  

17             (WHEREUPON, the witness returns to the stand)
  

18   Q.   If these two guys right here are these two are
  

19        basically the same circumference --
  

20   A.   Yes.
  

21   Q.   And you've got a 30,000 gallon tank --
  

22   A.   The asphalt tank is 30,000 gallons.
  

23   Q.   And then you've got the diesel fuel tank at 15 gallons.
  

24   A.   15,000 gallons.
  

25   Q.   15,000 gallons.  The diesel fuel tank, and they're the
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 1        same circumference, the diesel fuel tank is 47.6 feet
  

 2        tall?
  

 3   A.   No.  That would be the asphalt tank.
  

 4   Q.   Okay.  So on the key that's up here, the little chart,
  

 5        that's wrong?
  

 6   A.   Yeah --
  

 7   Q.   We're trying to figure out --
  

 8   A.   -- went through that one day.  I was -- it was
  

 9        mislabeled.
  

10             MR. SNEED:  Speak up.
  

11             THE WITNESS:  It's mislabeled.
  

12   Q.   Okay.  Do you know what else on the, I guess, this key
  

13        is -- or what else on this plan is mislabeled?
  

14   A.   I -- no, I did not make that key, TRC made it.
  

15   Q.   Okay.  And you know on that they've got certain heights
  

16        and then -- and they transferred them over to the key,
  

17        they rounded them down?  You know that they did that?
  

18   A.   I was not aware.
  

19             MR. SNEED:  Objection.
  

20             MR. GULDEN:  I just asked him if he knew and he
  

21                  said no.
  

22             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  If you would exchange seats, you
  

23                  could use the microphone at --
  

24             MR. SNEED:  Okay.
  

25             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Could we ask that, from the



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

162

  

 1                  board, will you please explain how this
  

 2                  process, asphalt plant process works.
  

 3             THE WITNESS:  The entire process?
  

 4             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Please.
  

 5             THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Asphalt is made by mixing
  

 6                  virgin aggregate that comes from typically a
  

 7                  stone quarry with asphalt which is a
  

 8                  petroleum-based product, derived from, you
  

 9                  know, when they make gasoline and diesel
  

10                  fuels, whatever.  The asphalt has to be hot,
  

11                  typically around 300 degrees.  The reason for
  

12                  that is so that it can flow because otherwise
  

13                  it's too viscous to push through the pumps.
  

14                  The aggregate is heated typically to around
  

15                  280 to 300 degrees.
  

16             MR. RAMSEY:  Can you put the plant back up and
  

17                  walk us through the material as it comes in
  

18                  and as it goes out, what those structures are
  

19                  for.  Like you're saying a lot of terms that
  

20                  I don't understand, like RAP.
  

21             THE WITNESS:  Yes.  It is okay if do our design,
  

22                  because that's not as backwards as far the
  

23                  flow is about the same.  I'm going to use
  

24                  this pen to point to things here.
  

25                       So as I pointed out prior, in this area
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 1                  here is where the burner is, right.  These
  

 2                  are the aggregate bins, this is where they
  

 3                  store the virgin --
  

 4             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I'm going to ask you to pull
  

 5                  your microphone -- there you go.
  

 6             THE WITNESS:  So this is where they store the
  

 7                  virgin aggregate.  The aggregate gets moved
  

 8                  through conveyors into the -- into the drum,
  

 9                  the entry point here.
  

10             MR. RAMSEY:  Where's the aggregate?  You said the
  

11                  aggregate, where's it coming from?  I mean,
  

12                  is there dump trucks back over there?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  Typically, there's -- typically
  

14                  there's a stockpile and -- I mean, not
  

15                  typically --
  

16             MR. RAMSEY:  And there's some kind of loader
  

17                  loading it.
  

18             THE WITNESS:  And there's a loader, picks up the
  

19                  material and fills it.  And then from there,
  

20                  like I said, it goes into the dryer.  The
  

21                  dryer is a rotary dryer so there's flights or
  

22                  paddles inside the drum that lifts the
  

23                  material and the way that they're designed,
  

24                  they cause the material to fall in a, what we
  

25                  call a curtain.  So it falls every aspect of
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 1                  that circular -- right, it doesn't just fall
  

 2                  on a spot.  So you fill the drum up and the
  

 3                  burner pushes hot gases through that dryer.
  

 4                  The hot gases when they cross the aggregate,
  

 5                  they -- they dry.  The reason for drying is
  

 6                  to remove the moisture from the material.
  

 7                  Right.  So typically all aggregate that is
  

 8                  being used has moisture in it.  There -- it's
  

 9                  not dry.  If it was dry we wouldn't have to
  

10                  heat it so much.  So the reason for the dryer
  

11                  is to remove the moisture from that material
  

12                  so it doesn't cause the asphalt to separate
  

13                  from that.
  

14                       From this -- let's see if I got that
  

15                  correct.  Yeah.  From this point, this is
  

16                  where it is -- that's the recycle collar or
  

17                  entry point.  The burner nozzle is right
  

18                  about that area and the burner flame sticks
  

19                  out past here.  So this whole area here is
  

20                  the drying zone.  Once it gets past this RAP
  

21                  column, there's a pipe that goes from back
  

22                  here into -- to this point here and that
  

23                  sprays asphalt inside the drum about a foot
  

24                  from the bottom of the drum.  So there's a
  

25                  spray bar that sprays the material that's



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

165

  

 1                  coming through and it coats it.  So from here
  

 2                  this way it's all mixed asphalt.  If you're
  

 3                  using RAP, you push it here through this --
  

 4                  through one there into that entry and it
  

 5                  mixes with the hot aggregate before it gets
  

 6                  sprayed so that it coats and -- before it
  

 7                  gets pushed through the rest of the process
  

 8                  here.
  

 9                       At this point, is a discharge for the
  

10                  hot mix.  The mix goes up this elevator into
  

11                  the silos.  On the top of the silos here
  

12                  there's what we call gal hoppers (phonetic).
  

13                  They're called gal hoppers so that we could
  

14                  -- it drops (inaudible) of material.  So all
  

15                  that is encased, everything is sealed up
  

16                  there.  There's no open doors or anything
  

17                  like that.
  

18                       Some plants will have the duct that
  

19                  drops material in and there'll be open air
  

20                  and that gal hopper is open like a, like a
  

21                  pop, right.  Ours has a lid that's welded to
  

22                  the top and the chute is welded to that and
  

23                  that's all enclosed.  So typically, anything
  

24                  that would be released there as far as smoke,
  

25                  blue smoke, would -- would get pulled down
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 1                  through the drag and it ends up down here and
  

 2                  then discharged.
  

 3                       These two -- this would be the asphalt
  

 4                  tank, I think, yeah, that's the asphalt tank.
  

 5                  So this is the hot oil heater.  That heater
  

 6                  heats oil up using a diesel burner and then
  

 7                  there's oil that circulates inside at the
  

 8                  very bottom of the tanks, down here at the
  

 9                  very bottom.  There's about a foot and a half
  

10                  worth of coils and the oil circulates through
  

11                  those coils, typically, around 320 degrees
  

12                  then heats up that asphalt to a 300-degree
  

13                  level.  The diesel tank doesn't have that --
  

14                  so it just -- it just has ports for entry and
  

15                  suction.
  

16                       The baghouse is here.  The burner is
  

17                  here, the exhaust fan is here.  This is what
  

18                  pulls all the material from here this way,
  

19                  right.  So the air is going this way and the
  

20                  aggregate is going this way and that's the
  

21                  reason for the name, counterflow technology.
  

22                  So this bag, this -- this baghouse has -- all
  

23                  this area here is filled with bags that are
  

24                  about four and a half, depending on --
  

25                  depending on the size of the plant, would be
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 1                  four and half inches in diameter to about six
  

 2                  inches in diameter and then typically
  

 3                  anywhere between eight to ten, 12, depending
  

 4                  on the baghouse, depending on the design.
  

 5                  These bags are made with typically a Nomex
  

 6                  material that's designed by DuPont.  It's a
  

 7                  bunch of woven filters that help trap the
  

 8                  dust particles and things like that.
  

 9                       So here, this -- this square block that
  

10                  we see here is what we call a primary.  The
  

11                  primary design is to knock out the bigger
  

12                  particulate.  So, and when I say bigger
  

13                  particulate, I mean smaller than a grain of
  

14                  sand.  That's what we call large particulate.
  

15                  So those get knocked down, anything bigger
  

16                  than a grain of sand will get knocked down
  

17                  right here and fall at the very bottom into
  

18                  an oven.  The -- you see these two lines
  

19                  right here, those are two augers, those carry
  

20                  -- those heavies get carried from here back
  

21                  to this recycled entry.  There's a -- there's
  

22                  another open chute here, not open, but
  

23                  there's a chute where the augers get
  

24                  connected and that material gets put back in
  

25                  there right at the entry point so that the
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 1                  asphalt mixes with those -- with those fines
  

 2                  right away so that it collects -- basically
  

 3                  it traps them.  Anything that's smaller than
  

 4                  that will get passed through the baghouse and
  

 5                  then go through the filters before it comes
  

 6                  out through the stack which is, I think,
  

 7                  right there.
  

 8                       The recycling system is -- this is the
  

 9                  hopper bin.  I think it will hold about 15
  

10                  tons of RAP.  There's a screen, sometimes a
  

11                  processor to break up lumps.  And then a
  

12                  conveyor that takes it to the top of that RAP
  

13                  system.  I mean, that's -- that's the gist, I
  

14                  guess, of the way the plant works.  I mean, I
  

15                  can go into a lot more detail but that's the
  

16                  basics of it.
  

17             MR. RAMSEY:  Thank you.  That just explains this
  

18                  (inaudible).
  

19             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  That is going to be included as
  

20                  an exhibit for us?
  

21             MR. SNEED:  Yes, ma'am.
  

22   BY MR. GULDEN:
  

23   Q.   Yeah, and in all fairness, to you, Mr. Cardenas, I
  

24        think that's the profile we were talking about, is that
  

25        correct?
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 1   A.   Yes, that's the profile of the site.
  

 2   Q.   And if I can read it, that says 49 --
  

 3   A.   .99.
  

 4             MR. SNEED:  Say it louder.  Couldn't hear you.
  

 5             THE WITNESS:  It's 49 and 5 inches.
  

 6   Q.   Forty-nine and five inches or 49 --
  

 7   A.   It's 49 and five --
  

 8   Q.   Five inches, not 49.5 feet.  Just a couple of last
  

 9        follow-up questions, in that you had mentioned
  

10        something about another burner, another diesel -- so
  

11        you got a burner going on right here, right?  This is
  

12        the --
  

13   A.   That's --
  

14   Q.   That's one.
  

15   A.   That's the main burner.
  

16   Q.   Yeah.  And where -- the other burner's right over here.
  

17   A.   It's a smaller -- smaller burner --
  

18   Q.   Still about 98 decibels on that burner?
  

19   A.   No.
  

20   Q.   No?
  

21   A.   That's no bigger -- I mean, it's a little bit bigger
  

22        than maybe what your furnace is.
  

23   Q.   Okay.  And then the baghouse and all of the suction, I
  

24        mean, is -- is there an accumulation of noise level or
  

25        you -- do you only hear the loudest?
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 1   A.   Typically, you're going to hear the loudest over --
  

 2        over the other because of that.  But there, I mean,
  

 3        there's equations that you can do that you add all
  

 4        decibels and it'll give you a decibel -- so like
  

 5        example would be you have two items that are 60
  

 6        decibels apiece, you would wind up with about well into
  

 7        62 to 63 decibels.
  

 8   Q.   And so with all of the decibels, the 98 decibels of the
  

 9        burner fan, the exhaust fan, which is at 94, now this
  

10        other one, the decibel level really, like you were
  

11        doing, might be a little more than 98 decibels?
  

12   A.   Typically, but you have to -- I mean, there --  that's
  

13        a --
  

14             MR. BRIGGS:  Could you pull the mic up?
  

15             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Pull your mic, please.
  

16   A.   Sorry.  It's -- it's a little more complicated than
  

17        that and that could take into consideration the
  

18        distance between the two pieces or the three pieces.
  

19        Like I said, that burner that's on the hopper here,
  

20        here, as a motor typically that's like a half a horse
  

21        power.  It's no bigger than a fan or a home furnace.  I
  

22        mean, that's -- it's just a little bit bigger than
  

23        that.  I mean, it's not -- you wouldn't hear it over
  

24        the other two.  If you're standing here, even if you're
  

25        standing here, let's say halfway between these two you



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

171

  

 1        and you will hear this blower, you would not hear that.
  

 2        I've been around these things for almost 26 years, I --
  

 3        you walk around that whole plant, you're going to hear
  

 4        different noises around the entire area.  If you walk
  

 5        from one side of the baghouse to the other, the blower
  

 6        -- the blower noise would basically cover the noise
  

 7        coming from the exhaust fan.  You just -- you just
  

 8        won't hear them both, even in this region.
  

 9   Q.   So let me just ask you one last question or maybe two
  

10        last questions.  Do you live -- do you live -- I don't
  

11        even know where you live, Fort Wayne, but do you live
  

12        within 800 feet of one of these things?
  

13   A.   Do I live --
  

14   Q.   Yeah, do you live?  And so in 20 years have you ever
  

15        lived within 800 feet of one of these things?
  

16   A.   No.
  

17   Q.   From true-life experience you have no experience how
  

18        loud those will be if your house is located within 800
  

19        feet of this plant?
  

20   A.   I have -- I have some life experience of how loud
  

21        plants are at any distance.  I've traveled to so many
  

22        that I've heard, you know, when you're driving up to a
  

23        plant, I have a hard time finding the location because
  

24        they're hard to see and they're hard to hear to get
  

25        close up to.  I mean, I'm not trying -- I'm not trying
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 1        to tell you what -- that's just what I know.  I don't
  

 2        know how every location is but most plants that I've
  

 3        been to, I have to see them before I hear them.
  

 4   Q.   And one last question, natural gas plants, is this a
  

 5        diesel plant?
  

 6   A.   This one burns diesel fuel.  The burner's capable to
  

 7        burn any kind of fuel.
  

 8   Q.   And does it make a difference if it's natural gas and
  

 9        heat so as far as dust flows?
  

10   A.   No.
  

11   Q.   Are diesel louder --
  

12   A.   No.
  

13   Q.   No.  Same -- same decibels?
  

14   A.   It would be the same decibels.
  

15             MR. GULDEN:  Those would be my questions.
  

16   R E D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N  BY MR. SNEED:
  

17   Q.   Mr. Cardenas, the inverse square law for the infusion
  

18        of noise as it travels away from a source, doesn't that
  

19        apply directly right straight through the sky?
  

20   A.   It applies in a, what you call a sphere, so from any
  

21        point it dissipates in that area --
  

22   Q.   All right.
  

23   A.   -- like if you saw an explosion it just doesn't go one
  

24        way, it goes --
  

25   Q.   All the way around.



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

173

  

 1   A.   Just like light travels.
  

 2   Q.   And it diminishes the same way from mountaintop to
  

 3        mountaintop?
  

 4   A.   It diminishes as it goes out --
  

 5   Q.   So it's --
  

 6   A.   -- is a pressure, so as the pressure diminishes
  

 7        (inaudible).
  

 8             MR. SNEED:  That's all I have.  Thank you.
  

 9             MR. TUZIW:  I have a question for you.
  

10             THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
  

11             MR. TUZIW:  Earlier when we were talking about
  

12                  decibel levels and the sound and we talked
  

13                  about the site.  You said you drove around
  

14                  the site?
  

15             THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
  

16             MR. TUZIW:  And you didn't hear the other plant
  

17                  till you rolled down your windows?
  

18             THE WITNESS:  We drove probably from here to that
  

19                  window in the truck, and I might be wrong,
  

20                  somewhere about that distance in the trust,
  

21                  and I looked at the crusher as -- from the
  

22                  side and I didn't know it was running until I
  

23                  rolled the window down.
  

24             MR. TUZIW:  And you had no testing equipment with
  

25                  you?
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 1             THE WITNESS:  I didn't.
  

 2             MR. TUZIW:  So at the risk of sounding ignorant,
  

 3                  what was the purpose of you driving through
  

 4                  there with the windows down?
  

 5             THE WITNESS:  What was the purpose of driving
  

 6                  through --
  

 7             MR. TUZIW:  Through there with the windows down?
  

 8             THE WITNESS:  I rolled it down just to see if I
  

 9                  could --
  

10             MR. TUZIW:  Just, you were just driving through
  

11                  the site just doing a check or you were
  

12                  checking the sound?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  I was looking at the site just to
  

14                  look at the site.  I went there --
  

15             MR. TUZIW:  You weren't -- you weren't checking
  

16                  for sound --
  

17             THE WITNESS:  I didn't go there to check for sound
  

18                  --
  

19             MR. TUZIW:  Okay.  I just got a little lost in all
  

20                  that just to, so many questions and talking
  

21                  about decibel levels and all that, I kind of
  

22                  got lost as to why you were there doing that.
  

23             THE WITNESS:  No, that's fine.  I wasn't there to
  

24                  test the sound --
  

25             MR. TUZIW:  You weren't testing, that's why --
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 1             THE WITNESS:  I was just there to check the site.
  

 2             MR. TUZIW:  -- that's why you had no equipment
  

 3                  because you weren't there for that purpose?
  

 4                  Thank you.
  

 5             MR. SNEED:  I call Rob Vandenmeiracker.
  

 6             MR. TUZIW:  What was his last name?
  

 7             MR. SNEED:  That's -- I'm going to let him spell
  

 8                  it for you, it's Dutch.
  

 9             MR. TUZIW:  No problem.
  

10             THE WITNESS:  It's Rob Vandenmeiracker.  You can
  

11                  call me Rob V., I won't be offended.
  

12             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  For the record, will you spell
  

13                  it, please?
  

14             THE WITNESS:  Sure. V-a-n-d-e-n-m-e-i-r-a-c-k-e-r.
  

15             MR. TUZIW:  We'll call you Rob V.
  

16                       ROB VANDENMEIRACKER, being first duly
  

17   identified and sworn was examined and testified as follows:
  

18   D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N  BY MR. SNEED:
  

19   Q.   Rob V., will you, please, tell the board your name,
  

20        address and occupation?
  

21   A.   I'm a Office Practice Leader for TRC in our Greenville,
  

22        South Carolina office and I've worked with TRC for
  

23        about 25 years.
  

24   Q.   Who is TRC?
  

25   A.   We are a environmental infrastructure and energy
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 1        company.
  

 2   Q.   And what's your education?
  

 3   A.   I have a bachelor of science in chemical engineering.
  

 4   Q.   And do you have any professional certifications?
  

 5   A.   I'm a professional engineer in South Carolina.  I have
  

 6        been a visible emissions smoke reader for air emission
  

 7        control and I have given a number of classes and
  

 8        presentations on air quality.
  

 9   Q.   What are your areas of expertise?
  

10   A.   Primarily air quality permitting of complicated
  

11        industrial facilities.
  

12   Q.   And have you been consulted by other engineers for
  

13        guidance in air dispersion modeling?
  

14   A.   Yes.  Oftentimes I'll work with companies even before
  

15        they've selected a site or technology to help them
  

16        understand what environmental regulations they'll need
  

17        to meet and what impacts there will be to the community
  

18        and advise them on what types of control devices that
  

19        they should select for their equipment that they're
  

20        proposing.  Sometimes we work with foreign companies
  

21        that aren't familiar with U.S. regulations so there's a
  

22        fair amount of education that goes along with that, and
  

23        advice and services on what the best technologies are.
  

24   Q.   Has your work been accepted by the EPA?
  

25   A.   Yes.
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 1   Q.   Has it been accepted by the Division of Air Quality in
  

 2        North Carolina?
  

 3   A.   I have submitted and have approved numerous air permit
  

 4        applications in the state of North Carolina as well as
  

 5        other states in the Southeast.
  

 6   Q.   You're familiar with the asphalt plants, are you?
  

 7   A.   Sure.
  

 8   Q.   If I understand, what percent of the output from a
  

 9        asphalt plant product is rock or aggregate?
  

10   A.   Close to 95 percent is actually the aggregate of the
  

11        rock material.
  

12   Q.   Now, what has happened to asphalt plants over the last
  

13        20, 30, 40 years?
  

14   A.   There have been significant improvements in technology,
  

15        as the previous gentleman mentioned in terms of the
  

16        process itself to make it more efficient, but the
  

17        emission controls have actually increased quite a bit
  

18        over the years as well.  Prior to my starting work or
  

19        just about the time that I began my career, asphalt
  

20        plant could be permitted with emission controls.  Now
  

21        all asphalt plant have to have a baghouse which is
  

22        highly effective at controlling dust and particulate
  

23        emissions.  And the -- the standards have gotten
  

24        tighter and tighter over the years.  A lot of people
  

25        don't realize our air is much cleaner now than it was
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 1        20, 30, even -- even 10 years ago.  Our air is
  

 2        continuing to get cleaner as time goes on.
  

 3   Q.   And how does asphalt compare with concrete?
  

 4   A.   So they're obviously both used for road making.  That's
  

 5        the extent of my knowledge in terms of the engineering
  

 6        part of infrastructure.  But the greenhouse gas profile
  

 7        for example, for concrete is much higher, four or five
  

 8        times higher amount of greenhouse gas emissions come
  

 9        from the life cycle of concrete versus asphalt.
  

10   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 34 and ask you if you can
  

11        identify it?
  

12             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 34 was marked
  

13                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

14                  for review)
  

15   A.   Yes, sir.  This is a graph comparing the greenhouse gas
  

16        emissions between asphalt and concrete plants.
  

17   Q.   Did you prepare this?
  

18   A.   I found this in a online document from an asphalt --
  

19        oh, sorry, from a paving website.
  

20             MR. GULDEN:  From a what website, camping?
  

21             THE WITNESS:  Paving.
  

22             MR. GULDEN:  Paving.  Thank you.
  

23   Q.   And this is showing the --
  

24   A.   Right.  So the two bars on the left represent a
  

25        conventional and other type of asphalt pavement and the
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 1        overall greenhouse gas emissions throughout the life
  

 2        cycle.  And then the other bar, the concrete bar shows
  

 3        the amount of gas emissions that are released from the
  

 4        manufacturer of concrete and the use of concrete.  And
  

 5        one of the main differences is that it takes a
  

 6        tremendous amount of energy to make cement, to make
  

 7        concrete, you have cement in concrete relative to
  

 8        asphalt.
  

 9   Q.   And are there any other features of asphalt with regard
  

10        to concrete?
  

11   A.   That's all I'm comfortable stating.  There may be
  

12        benefits that you can find related to the surfaces of
  

13        road and efficiency, you know, the rolling friction on
  

14        tires, but I think we'd have to do research on that.
  

15   Q.   All right.
  

16             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer Exhibit 34.
  

17             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 34 was
  

18                  offered into evidence)
  

19   Q.   Now, let me show you, how many asphalt plants are there
  

20        in North Carolina?
  

21   A.   So based on my research looking at the air permits and
  

22        DEQ's website, somewhere between 130 and 150 are
  

23        permitted to operate in North Carolina.
  

24   Q.   Why are there so many?
  

25   A.   There's a few reasons.  The primary one is you want the
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 1        asphalt to be close to the jobsite.  You -- you pay a
  

 2        very high cost in trying to transport the asphalt from
  

 3        one location to the other so you want to have that
  

 4        asphalt plant close to the project site.  And that's
  

 5        from a relative standpoint.  I don't mean a couple of
  

 6        miles, I mean, you know, less than a few hours' drive
  

 7        certainly.
  

 8   Q.   And are you familiar with the asphalt plants in this
  

 9        area?
  

10   A.   I have done some research into the asphalt plants in
  

11        Western North Carolina.
  

12   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 39 and ask you if you can
  

13        identify it.
  

14             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 39 was marked
  

15                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

16                  for review)
  

17   A.   Yes, sir.  This is a summary of several asphalt plants
  

18        in Western North Carolina and some specifics about the
  

19        production rate, the location, the name of the plant
  

20        and the fuels that they use.  One of the relevant items
  

21        here is the middle column has a maximum capacity for
  

22        the asphalt plants and so that's the maximum capacity
  

23        along, sort of a common one.  And maximum asphalt, the
  

24        proposed plant that we're here to talk about today has
  

25        a rated capacity of 170 tons per hour and the others as
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 1        you can see are much larger, ranging from 250 to 300
  

 2        tons per hour.  Some of the other --
  

 3   Q.   -- column on Exhibit 39 the front line crosses the
  

 4        Madison plant and it's proposed for here and
  

 5        (inaudible) in Madison County, right?  Is that right?
  

 6   A.   The first line is Madison Asphalt as the proposed
  

 7        plant, that's right.
  

 8   Q.   All these other plants were producing much more
  

 9        asphalt?
  

10   A.   They have the capacity to produce much more asphalt on
  

11        an hourly basis.
  

12   Q.   And are all of them using other kinds of fuel besides
  

13        number two fuel oil?
  

14   A.   That's correct.  Three of the others are able to use
  

15        number four fuel oil which is also sometimes known as
  

16        recycled oil.
  

17             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer that Exhibit Number 39.
  

18             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 39 was
  

19                  offered into evidence)
  

20             MR. TUZIW:  Will you leave that up for a moment?
  

21             MR. SNEED:  Yes, sir.
  

22             MR. TUZIW:  It's hard to read when you --
  

23             MR. SNEED:  I can't work this thing very well --
  

24             MR. TUZIW:  That's all right.  I just want to
  

25                  finish it.  Thank you.
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 1             MR. SNEED:  You sure you got all of it there?
  

 2   Q.   Was there a time when asphalt plants were treated as --
  

 3        as a special case for going to EPA?
  

 4   A.   Right.  So if we go back to the Cleaner Act amendments
  

 5        of 1990, that was the last time that Congress made any
  

 6        significant changes or additions to federal air quality
  

 7        statutes.  They listed a number of pollutants and they
  

 8        listed a number of types of industries that they told
  

 9        EPA you need to go investigate these industries and
  

10        assess damages if it's necessary to protect health and
  

11        the environment.  And asphalt plants were one of the
  

12        things that were listed by Congress that needed
  

13        consideration by EPA.  So make sure that this is clear.
  

14        EPA -- Congress wasn't saying that you must regulate,
  

15        they just said Congress -- sorry, they said to EPA, you
  

16        need to review the emissions from those facilities and
  

17        determine if further regulation is necessary.
  

18   Q.   All right.  Let me show you two exhibits, Exhibit 8 and
  

19        Exhibit 17.
  

20             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 8 and 17
  

21                  were marked for identification and passed to
  

22                  the witness for review)
  

23   Q.   What is Exhibit 8?
  

24   A.   So Exhibit 8, I'll give you a chance to put it on the
  

25        screen there.  So Exhibit 8 is a list of categories
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 1        that after EPA's third review they decided that these
  

 2        industries did not need further regulation of hazardous
  

 3        air pollutants.  And asphalt plants are fifth row on
  

 4        that table that was delisted in 2002.  So again, EPA
  

 5        decided that no further regulation has this air
  

 6        pollutants from asphalt plants was necessary at that
  

 7        time.
  

 8   Q.   And it's called Asphalt Concrete Manufacturing on
  

 9        there?
  

10   A.   That's right.
  

11   Q.   What is Exhibit 17?
  

12   A.   So 17 is a slide that I prepared to summarize this a
  

13        little bit further.  During that 2002, delisting EPA
  

14        removed five source categories.  One of those was
  

15        asphalt plants.  It may be that the air emissions from
  

16        these plants were not creating impacts on air quality
  

17        in communities that needed to be addressed further.
  

18        And no further federal regulation was needed to protect
  

19        public health and the environment from asphalt plants.
  

20        And no other hazardous air pollutant has been issued by
  

21        EPA since then for asphalt plants either.
  

22             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 8 and 17.
  

23             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 8 and 17
  

24                  were offered into evidence)
  

25   Q.   Now, North Carolina air quality permitting, can you
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 1        describe the requirements for that?
  

 2   A.   So in North Carolina prior -- prior to beginning
  

 3        construction of a new industrial facility that will
  

 4        have air emissions of regulated pollutants you have to
  

 5        secure a permit prior to beginning construction of that
  

 6        facility.  And when I say regulated pollutants there's
  

 7        two main categories.  There's criteria pollutants and
  

 8        hazardous air pollutants.  Criteria pollutants are
  

 9        things like particulate, dust, sulphur dioxide,
  

10        nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide and volatile organic
  

11        compounds.  And those are primarily emitted from fuel
  

12        combustion but they can come from other sources as
  

13        well.
  

14             The other category are hazardous air pollutants
  

15        and these are materials like benzene and toluene, just,
  

16        you know, various other organic and inorganic compounds
  

17        that North Carolina has determined are relevant to
  

18        public health.
  

19   Q.   All right.  Let me show you two of the Exhibits that
  

20        you prepared, I believe, 18 and 19.
  

21             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 18 and 19
  

22                  were marked for identification and passed to
  

23                  the witness for review)
  

24   Q.   Could you describe Exhibit 18 first?
  

25   A.   Yes, sir.  I did prepare both of these slides.  Exhibit
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 1        18 is a summary of land and a permit required in North
  

 2        Carolina and facilities are sometimes eligible for
  

 3        registration permits.  The thresholds there are
  

 4        aggregate emissions greater than five tons per year.
  

 5        And I apologize for using the word "aggregate" because
  

 6        that's confusing with what we're talking about.  I'm
  

 7        not talking about rocks, I'm talking about the sum of
  

 8        pollutants, okay.  So the sum of emissions if they're
  

 9        between five and 25 tons per year facilities can
  

10        qualify for registration permit.  This is a very basic
  

11        permit.  It is sort of like a general permit, it
  

12        doesn't have specific conditions tailored to a specific
  

13        facility.  These are conditions that would apply to a
  

14        group of facilities.
  

15             The third bullet on the slide summarizes how a
  

16        facility can demonstrate that they're exempt from
  

17        permitting entirely.  So it can be an industrial source
  

18        but the emissions are so low that they don't require a
  

19        permit of any type.  So that threshold is five tons per
  

20        year for each of those pollutants that are listed
  

21        there.  And the sum of the emissions again needs to be
  

22        less than 10 times per year.
  

23   Q.   The use of the word "tons" seems like a lot to me.
  

24        People eat food, breathe oxygen and put out carbon
  

25        dioxide.
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 1   A.   That's right.
  

 2   Q.   Sixteen times a minute.
  

 3   A.   That's right.
  

 4   Q.   How much carbon dioxide does a normal person put out in
  

 5        a year?
  

 6   A.   A normal person can easily put out a half a ton of
  

 7        carbon dioxide per year.
  

 8   Q.   So 10 people would be five tons?
  

 9   A.   That's right.  That's what I said.  You know, the tons
  

10        shouldn't be alarming.  That is actually -- one ton is
  

11        actually a very small amount of air pollution if you
  

12        compare it to large industrial facilities, it'll be
  

13        much higher than that.
  

14   Q.   All right.  Now, let me ask you about Exhibit 19.
  

15             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Can I ask one question?
  

16             MR. SNEED:  Yes, ma'am.
  

17             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Will you tell us who DEQ and
  

18                  CPEQ is?
  

19             THE WITNESS:  So they're the North Carolina
  

20                  Department of Environmental Quality.  They
  

21                  are responsible in almost all counties in
  

22                  North Carolina for issuing air, water
  

23                  permits, waste permits.  All -- all sort of
  

24                  environmental regulations in North Carolina
  

25                  area administered and enforced by DEQ.  And
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 1                  to make things confusing, there's also a DAQ
  

 2                  which is the Division of Air Quality that's a
  

 3                  subset of DEQ.
  

 4   Q.   Let me show Exhibit 19.  Can you explain what Exhibit
  

 5        19 shows?
  

 6   A.   So I mentioned earlier toxic air pollutants as a
  

 7        category of pollutant that EPA and North Carolina are
  

 8        interested in.  North Carolina regulates 97 air toxic
  

 9        pollutants from asphalt plants and if you emit those
  

10        toxic air pollutants above a certain threshold level,
  

11        you have to do what's called an air dispersion modeling
  

12        analysis which is a computer program that you put in
  

13        various input parameters, site-specific parameters like
  

14        the locations of the stacks, the buildings.  You also
  

15        put in meteorological data, the emission rates from the
  

16        facility and that is used to predict what the absolute
  

17        maximum concentration you would expect to see outside
  

18        the property boundary of the facility.
  

19             So one of the key things is, what do I compare
  

20        that predicted value with?  You know, what do I compare
  

21        my predicted concentration on site with?  That's the
  

22        ambient, the allowable ambient level and the North
  

23        Carolina DAQ in conjunction with the Science Advisory
  

24        Board established what those values should be.  So they
  

25        set specific values for specific pollutants in North
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 1        Carolina.  They're continuingly, or they continue to
  

 2        look at those levels and make adjustments as necessary.
  

 3        The North Carolina Environmental Management Commission
  

 4        is also involved in approving those levels.  I think
  

 5        what's important here is that there are various groups
  

 6        in the state of North Carolina, government entities
  

 7        that are responsible for reviewing toxic air pollutants
  

 8        and their health hazard and establishing what is a
  

 9        state level for those emissions.
  

10   Q.   And the AAL would be acceptable level, right?
  

11   A.   That's right, it's a concentration that's deemed to be
  

12        safe and protective of human health and the
  

13        environment.
  

14   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 20 and ask if you can identify
  

15        that?
  

16             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 20 was marked
  

17                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

18                  for review)
  

19   A.   So Exhibit 20 is another slide that I prepared
  

20        summarizing a little bit further what the Science
  

21        Advisory Board, or the SAB's responsibilities are.
  

22        It's a group of half a dozen or eight individuals
  

23        generally with medical or health effects backgrounds.
  

24        They're responsible for reviewing contaminates that are
  

25        emitted by facilities in North Carolina and act as a
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 1        consultant to DEQ to help them identify new pollutants
  

 2        that need to be regulated and help them identify any
  

 3        changes that are necessary in those AALs that we
  

 4        mentioned earlier.  They'll provide us with
  

 5        recommendations to DAQ and the DAQ will move forward
  

 6        with rule making as necessary.  Again, the folks on the
  

 7        SAB are experts in epidemiology and health effects on
  

 8        toxic air pollutants.
  

 9             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And DHHS is who?
  

10             THE WITNESS:  Department of Health and Human
  

11                  Services.
  

12             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 20 into evidence.
  

13             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 20 was
  

14                  offered into evidence)
  

15   Q.   And show you Exhibit 21 and ask you if you can identify
  

16        this.
  

17             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 21 was marked
  

18                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

19                  for review)
  

20   Q.   So Exhibit 21 is a chart summarizing the asphalt plant
  

21        initiatives and some other information.  The orange
  

22        bars on the graph represent the potential emissions
  

23        from a proposed Madison asphalt plant, so 2.7 tons per
  

24        year of particulate, 6.86 tons per year of sulphur
  

25        dioxide, et cetera, through the rest of the graph.  So



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

190

  

 1        the orange bars represent the amount of emissions that
  

 2        the plant will be allowed to emit, or could emit as
  

 3        maximum capacity.  The black line -- black line running
  

 4        horizontally here is North Carolina's permit exemption
  

 5        threshold.  So you can see from the graph two of the
  

 6        pollutants are actually less, actually three of the
  

 7        pollutants are less than the exemption threshold and
  

 8        two are above but only by a small margin.
  

 9   Q.   So if those two hadn't been above, they wouldn't even
  

10        need the permit?
  

11   A.   It would not involve, or would not even require a
  

12        permit, that's right.
  

13             The other thing that's important on this graph,
  

14        it's a little hard to see, there's a tan line at the
  

15        100 ton per year level near the top, that is the level
  

16        at which North Carolina considers a facility a major
  

17        source, so something that requires a lot of effort and
  

18        attention in issuing a permit.  And I don't mean to say
  

19        that they won't have attention towards a minor permit,
  

20        but that threshold is what's considered major.  That's
  

21        a significant source in North Carolina.
  

22             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 21.
  

23             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 21 was
  

24                  offered into evidence)
  

25   Q.   And let me ask you, what -- based on your study of the
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 1        modeling in this case or the emissions in this case,
  

 2        what emissions have to be modeled and studied --
  

 3   A.   Right.  So I mentioned earlier there are 97 air toxics
  

 4        that North Carolina identifies as being emitted from
  

 5        asphalt plants.  We did characterize the emissions of
  

 6        those 97 and of those only four exceeded the level that
  

 7        requires air dispersion modeling analysis.  So the
  

 8        other -- the others the time before were considered
  

 9        insignificant based on a lookup chart that the state of
  

10        North Carolina provides us that says that if you're
  

11        below this pound per day or pound per year level, no
  

12        further assessment is necessary.  So there were four
  

13        pollutants that require further analysis, benzene,
  

14        formaldehyde, nickel and arsenic.
  

15   Q.   All right.  And how do you do that analysis of the air
  

16        dispersion modeling?
  

17   A.   So this is what I mentioned earlier with the air
  

18        dispersion model where we gather meteorological data,
  

19        emission data, site specific data on property boundary
  

20        and the equipment onsite, emission rates, stack
  

21        parameters.  The height of the stack from the baghouse,
  

22        the velocity, the temperature.  All these things go
  

23        into a complicated computer model and this model
  

24        predicts concentrations at the property boundary and
  

25        beyond, out to a distance of about five kilometers.



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

192

  

 1   Q.   All right.  Now, does the state require you to use
  

 2        certain parameters for asphalt plants?
  

 3   A.   They do.  Asphalt plants are a little bit different.
  

 4        North Carolina has spreadsheets that we are required to
  

 5        use to estimate emissions.  So the inputs that we can
  

 6        provide to that spreadsheet are, the size of the plant,
  

 7        the capacity, how many tons of asphalt will we make,
  

 8        what's the type of emission control we're going to use?
  

 9        A baghouse and the type of fuel that we're going to
  

10        use.  But the main input parameters into this Excel
  

11        spreadsheet, once you put this into the spreadsheet it
  

12        tells you what the emission rates are for those 97
  

13        toxic air pollutants.
  

14   Q.   Now, is there a place where you say this asphalt plant
  

15        has a condenser --
  

16   A.   There isn't any reliance in that spreadsheet to take --
  

17        to take credit for any emission controls other than the
  

18        baghouse on the main unit.
  

19   Q.   How do you get the data for the weather that you're
  

20        going to use in this modeling?
  

21   A.   North Carolina DEQ or the actually, the Division of Air
  

22        Quality, the DAQ, provides us the meteorological data
  

23        for use as the air model.
  

24   Q.   And is that based on where the modeling is to be done?
  

25   A.   Interestingly if you're in Eastern North Carolina is
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 1        based on usually one meteorological station or two, but
  

 2        in North Carolina, given the topography, the mountains
  

 3        that you all have here, it's a very complicated
  

 4        situation.  So DAQ has put a lot of effort into
  

 5        gathering meteorological data from Western North
  

 6        Carolina and surrounding states to develop a model --
  

 7        not a model, but a meteorological data set that we will
  

 8        tell DAQ we want to place a facility in a specific
  

 9        locations, we give them the latitude and longitude and
  

10        then they tell us here is a data set, a meteorological
  

11        data set that you need to use in that model.  So it's
  

12        not from a specific location, it is a combination of
  

13        many sites throughout North Carolina.
  

14   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 10 and 10A and ask you if you
  

15        can identify them?
  

16             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 10 and 10A
  

17                  were marked for identification and passed to
  

18                  the witness for review)
  

19   Q.   What is Exhibit 10?
  

20   A.   Exhibit 10 is a Air Permit Application that TRC
  

21        prepared for Madison Asphalt for a asphalt plant to be
  

22        located in Madison County.
  

23   Q.   And what is 10A?
  

24   A.   And 10A is a addendum to that application that provides
  

25        some additional information requested DAQ during a
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 1        permit review.
  

 2   Q.   And on page 2-1 of 10A what is shown?
  

 3   A.   2-1 is a summary of facility air pollutant emissions
  

 4        both of the criteria and of total on the largest have
  

 5        emissions.
  

 6   Q.   I'm sorry, I didn't understand what you said.  It's
  

 7        actual emissions, potential emissions, emissions after
  

 8        controls, is that right?
  

 9   A.   Right.  Right, so there are several categories of
  

10        emissions on this -- on this table.  The potential
  

11        emissions are what we use for air dispersion modeling
  

12        and for permitting purposes and because of some
  

13        regulatory requirements we are required to provide
  

14        emissions prior to emission control.  So for example,
  

15        if you look at the first line on that table, the
  

16        particulate matter, or PM line, you'll see a 48.07 ton
  

17        per year emission rate, that's not what's released in
  

18        the environment, that's what's emitted prior to the
  

19        baghouse.  The 2.31 is a figure that represents what
  

20        could be released to the environment if the facility
  

21        operated all the time at peak capacity at its highest
  

22        production rate.
  

23   Q.   So that's -- that's 365 days a year, 24 hours a day,
  

24        seven days a week, right?
  

25   A.   Yeah, that's right.
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 1   Q.   All right.  Are there -- is there another table in here
  

 2        that you would want to talk about?
  

 3   A.   I think we have a slide on the concentrations, right?
  

 4        The predicted concentrations.
  

 5   Q.   Probably do.
  

 6             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer these --
  

 7   Q.   Well, let me ask you, did you participate in the
  

 8        preparation of these reports?
  

 9   A.   I did.  The folks that did the bulk of the work in
  

10        preparing these are in the air quality group here in
  

11        the Southeast and all those folks report to me.
  

12   Q.   Report to you, they report to you?
  

13   A.   They report to me, that's right.  And I have reviewed
  

14        the application and I did help with answering questions
  

15        about how to assemble the application and then, you
  

16        know, strategy for getting the air permit, that sort of
  

17        thing.
  

18   Q.   Were they done properly and correctly?
  

19   A.   Yes.
  

20             MR. SNEED:  We offer 10 and 10A.
  

21             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 10 and 10A
  

22                  were offered into evidence)
  

23   Q.   Let me show you a number of exhibits you prepared.
  

24        Start with 22.
  

25             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 22, 23, 24,
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 1                  25, 26, 27, 28 and 29 were marked for
  

 2                  identification and passed to the witness for
  

 3                  review)
  

 4   Q.   What is Exhibit 22?
  

 5             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Mr. Sneed, could we take a 10-
  

 6                  minute break?
  

 7             MR. SNEED:  Yes, ma'am.
  

 8             (WHEREUPON, the hearing recessed at 7:35 p.m. and
  

 9                  reconvened at 7:50 p.m.)
  

10             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Calling the meeting back to
  

11                  order.
  

12   BY MR. SNEED:
  

13   Q.   Rob V., what is Exhibit 22?
  

14   A.   I think he said Exhibit 22, correct?
  

15   Q.   22.
  

16   A.   Yeah.  Exhibit 22 is a slide, a chart with emission
  

17        rates for formaldehyde and several hazardous air
  

18        pollutants.  The orange bar represents the potential
  

19        emissions from the Madison asphalt plant for
  

20        formaldehyde, so that's .16 tons per year.  Its -- the
  

21        rate of capacity is permitted capacity.  The red bar
  

22        represents an exemption threshold for formaldehyde so
  

23        if we, or since we are less than .7 tons per year, we
  

24        would be exempt from permitting just looking at
  

25        formaldehyde.  So remember from earlier there were
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 1        other pollutants that were over the permitting
  

 2        thresholds so we're still required to get a permit.  I
  

 3        just wanted to show this to give you a sense of scale
  

 4        that we're below threshold that we require a permit.
  

 5             The tan bar represents what's considered a major
  

 6        source of hazardous air pollutants.  So if we emitted
  

 7        more than 10 tons per year of formaldehyde we would be
  

 8        considered a major source of formaldehyde.
  

 9   Q.   And what's the bars on the right?
  

10   A.   So the bars on the right sum up the hazardous air
  

11        pollutants from the facility.  The total is .45 tons
  

12        per year.  Each individual hazardous air pollutant has
  

13        a threshold of 10 tons per year.  I'm sorry, the --
  

14        that was a previous.  But the 10 represented here with
  

15        the red bar is the permit exemption threshold and then
  

16        the tan bar represents the level that would be
  

17        considered major for the sum of all the hazardous air
  

18        pollutants.  So if you had more than 25 tons of total
  

19        HAPs, or hazardous air pollutants.
  

20   Q.   So how would you characterize those results?
  

21   A.   That tells me that this facility is small and not a
  

22        major source in North Carolina.
  

23             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 22.
  

24             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 22 was
  

25                  offered into evidence)
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 1   Q.   What is Exhibit 23?
  

 2   A.   So Exhibit 23 is a summary of air dispersion modeling
  

 3        results for one toxic air pollutant, formaldehyde.  So
  

 4        I mentioned earlier we run this complicated computer
  

 5        model and we predict what the offsite concentrate is
  

 6        going to be at the property boundary and out to a
  

 7        distance of five kilometers in all directions.  And the
  

 8        maximum value is 15.2 micrograms per cubic meter;
  

 9        that's the dark red bar.
  

10   Q.   So that's like a millionth of a gram in a cubic meter
  

11        or better?
  

12   A.   That's right, that's right.  Very --
  

13             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 23.
  

14             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 23 was
  

15                  offered into evidence)
  

16   A.   -- very small amount.  The allowable level in North
  

17        Carolina is 150.  So almost 10 times less, our maximum
  

18        concentration is almost 10 times less than what North
  

19        Carolina considers acceptable.
  

20   Q.   Let me ask you about Exhibit 24.
  

21   A.   24 is a very similar slide but it's -- of formaldehyde,
  

22        this is for benzene, one of the other pollutants that
  

23        we had the model.  Also much less than the maximum
  

24        allowable.  So we're well within what North Carolina
  

25        would consider to be an acceptable concentration of
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 1        benzene.
  

 2   Q.   So that's about a third of the ambient --
  

 3   A.   Yeah, just about, that's right.
  

 4             MR. SNEED:  We offer 24.
  

 5             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 24 was
  

 6                  offered into evidence)
  

 7   A.   24 (sic) is another similar slide done in this case for
  

 8        arsenic.
  

 9   Q.   25?
  

10   A.   25, yeah.  So this is for arsenic.  These numbers is as
  

11        you can tell are very, very, very small but we are also
  

12        much less than the acceptable level in North Carolina.
  

13             MR. SNEED:  We offer 25.
  

14             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 25 was
  

15                  offered into evidence)
  

16   Q.   What's 26?
  

17   A.   26 is the predicted and allowable concentrations for
  

18        nickel and this the fourth compound or pollutant that
  

19        we require a model for this application.
  

20   Q.   And once again that's at the quarry boundary?
  

21   A.   Yes.  I don't think I mentioned that earlier.  For
  

22        these slides we wanted to represent what the public
  

23        would likely be -- well, not even likely, what could
  

24        they be subject to.  So outside of the quarry is where
  

25        the general public would have access and these



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

200

  

 1        concentrations are at the boundary of the quarry.
  

 2   Q.   So this one's almost, it's just a little more than a
  

 3        tenth of the limit?
  

 4   A.   That's right.
  

 5   Q.   And it shows further away from the quarry boundary what
  

 6        happens to these concentrations?
  

 7   A.   The concentrations go down significantly the further
  

 8        away from the boundary you get.
  

 9             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 26.
  

10             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 26 was
  

11                  offered into evidence)
  

12   Q.   What is 27?
  

13   A.   So slide 27 is a comparison of the amount of
  

14        particulate emissions relative to another source that
  

15        might be more familiar for folks.  So the amount of PM
  

16        or particulate matter that's emitted from the Madison
  

17        asphalt plant is roughly equal to running a 300 horse
  

18        power diesel for a couple thousand hours per year.  So,
  

19        you know, big diesel engine and a pickup truck or
  

20        something like that or actually maybe a small diesel
  

21        pickup truck.
  

22   Q.   And that's just for the engine or the truck itself?
  

23   A.   That would -- that would be just from the engine of the
  

24        truck, right.
  

25   Q.   And that's particulate matter emissions?
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 1   A.   That's right.
  

 2             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer number 27.
  

 3             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 27 was
  

 4                  offered into evidence)
  

 5   Q.   What is 28?
  

 6   A.   28 is another comparison to compare Madison's permitted
  

 7        SO2 emissions to other sources.  So the SO2 is similar
  

 8        to running four 600 horse power diesel engines for a
  

 9        couple thousand hours and also similar to what you
  

10        would expect from using home heating oil in a community
  

11        about 375 homes would emit something similar.
  

12   Q.   All right.
  

13             MR. SNEED:  And we'd offer 28.
  

14             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 28 was
  

15                  offered into evidence)
  

16   Q.   What's 29?
  

17   A.   I think some of this is probably kind of small; it may
  

18        be difficult for you to read, but I'll draw your
  

19        attention to the graph on the left side of the green
  

20        bars and I'll read some of these to you.  The very,
  

21        very far left is a small bar with 1.8, I'm not sure if
  

22        that's legible or not, but it's the smallest bar on the
  

23        graph and that is what North Carolina at one time
  

24        considered to be an acceptable level of benzene
  

25        concentration.  The other bars represent what you might
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 1        be exposed to from a benzene standpoint from other
  

 2        activities --
  

 3   Q.   Just -- just read them off from left to right.
  

 4   A.   Yeah, so from left to right it's passive smoking,
  

 5        commuting, indoor air, outdoor air, pumping gasoline,
  

 6        typical daily cumulative exposure and then smoking a
  

 7        pack and a half of cigarettes per day.
  

 8   Q.   All right.  And what was the benzene level that you
  

 9        found, it was --
  

10   A.   The benzene that we had was .046 but that's on an
  

11        annual average and these are daily values so our -- it
  

12        gets a little difficult to compare but, you know,
  

13        suffice it to say that we're in compliance with the 1.8
  

14        level on this chart.
  

15   Q.   All right.  Are you familiar with the Center for
  

16        Disease --
  

17             MR. SNEED:  And we'd offer 29.
  

18             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 29 was
  

19                  offered into evidence)
  

20   Q.   And I'll ask you if you're familiar with the study that
  

21        the Center for Disease Control did on a plant in
  

22        Salisbury?
  

23   A.   I am.  I read that study about an asphalt plant and
  

24        some other sources in Salisbury.
  

25             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 9 was marked
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 1                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

 2                  for review)
  

 3   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 9 and ask you if this is the
  

 4        study?
  

 5   A.   It is.  It's a health consultation by the CDC for APAC
  

 6        Carolina and associated asphalt in Salisbury.
  

 7   Q.   When was that study done?
  

 8   A.   The report is dated 2007 and it was conducted for a
  

 9        period of time prior to that.
  

10   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 32 and ask you if you can
  

11        identify what it is.
  

12             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 32 was marked
  

13                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

14                  for review)
  

15   A.   I believe 32 is a zoomed out version, a representation
  

16        of the area of the study.
  

17   Q.   And the little red dot down --
  

18   A.   I believe the red dot is the asphalt plant.
  

19   Q.   So it's next to Food Lion, next to a residential
  

20        neighborhood?
  

21   A.   Yeah.
  

22   Q.   Next to the railroad?
  

23   A.   Yeah, and there's two other sources there as well.
  

24        There's the --
  

25   Q.   Let's look at Exhibit 33.
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 1             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 32.
  

 2             MR. GULDEN:  Well, I'll -- well, for what purpose?
  

 3                  I'll object to that unless his name's on this
  

 4                  health consultation.  If he just read it he's
  

 5                  testifying to, I'll object to that.
  

 6             MR. SNEED:  I have -- (inaudible).
  

 7             MR. GULDEN:  You're just getting him to identify
  

 8                  something that he thinks is the Salisbury
  

 9                  plant?
  

10             MR. SNEED:  Yeah.
  

11             MR. GULDEN:  Oh.  I would object to that unless he
  

12                  knows for certain that that's the Salisbury
  

13                  plant.
  

14             THE WITNESS:  Yeah, this was information that was
  

15                  put together based on looking at the graphs,
  

16                  not graphs, the diagrams in the report.  But
  

17                  those diagrams are a little bit blurry so
  

18                  this is a Google Earth, a more recent image
  

19                  of that area and we could compare both of
  

20                  those diagrams.
  

21   Q.   Let me show you Exhibit 33.
  

22             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 33 was marked
  

23                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

24                  for review)
  

25             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  But my question, you wanted
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 1                  confirmation that he knows that is the
  

 2                  Salisbury plant?
  

 3             MR. GULDEN:  Well, if I -- I mean, have you ever
  

 4                  been to the Salisbury plant?
  

 5             THE WITNESS:  I have not.
  

 6             MR. GULDEN:  Okay.  I mean, I don't know what
  

 7                  purpose it's for.  If it's just to show a
  

 8                  photograph, I'm happy to show a photograph
  

 9                  but if he's going to testify about conditions
  

10                  of the Salisbury plant that he just said he's
  

11                  never been to, I will object to that.
  

12             MR. SNEED:  No, we're trying to represent what the
  

13                  Salisbury plant is because the representation
  

14                  in the health consultation report from the
  

15                  CDC is all blurry and you can't see what it
  

16                  is.
  

17             MR. GULDEN:  Did you author that health
  

18                  consultation report with the CDC?
  

19             THE WITNESS:  I did not.
  

20             MR. GULDEN:  What did you do in relationship to
  

21                  anything that's in that?
  

22             THE WITNESS:  Other than reading the report, I
  

23                  didn't contribute to it.
  

24             MR. GULDEN:  And so are you expected to now just
  

25                  testify about what is in that report?
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 1             THE WITNESS:  That's right.
  

 2             MR. GULDEN:  Without ever having taken -- did you
  

 3                  look at the empirical data behind that
  

 4                  report?
  

 5             THE WITNESS:  What was provided in the report I
  

 6                  did review.
  

 7             MR. GULDEN:  So you just read the report?
  

 8             THE WITNESS:  Well, I would say yeah, that's
  

 9                  relevant, I read the report.
  

10             MR. GULDEN:  Okay.
  

11   BY MR. SNEED:
  

12   Q.   So what is Exhibit 33?
  

13   A.   Sorry.  33 is a more recent image of the diagram that's
  

14        in the CDC report that shows three facilities.  The
  

15        three facilities are circled in blue.
  

16   Q.   What's circled in blue?
  

17   A.   That's the -- that's the cement plant.
  

18   Q.   What's the facility circled in red?
  

19   A.   That's the Salisbury asphalt plant.
  

20   Q.   And what's the facility circled in green?
  

21   A.   And that's the associated asphalt transfer plant.
  

22   Q.   Now, if you look in the study on page 19.
  

23   A.   So this is the diagram that I referenced earlier, the
  

24        20, sorry, 33 is a clearer image of that same area.
  

25             MR. SNEED:  So we'd offer 9, 23, 32 and 33.
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 1             MR. GULDEN:  Well, I guess I'll object.  Not, I
  

 2                  guess I will, I will object to 9.  He didn't
  

 3                  author it, he read the report.  I mean, I've
  

 4                  read the Bible and can I offer that into
  

 5                  evidence?  Absolutely not.  He has no
  

 6                  experience with the Salisbury plant, he's
  

 7                  admitted it.  He's read the report and now
  

 8                  they want to introduce something.  He didn't
  

 9                  study any of the empirical evidence behind it
  

10                  other than what's in there and he's talking
  

11                  about photographs of the plant from probably
  

12                  2019.  I just -- to enter that in to have him
  

13                  testify, he's A, unqualified to do that, and
  

14                  B, didn't author the report.  And so I think
  

15                  him just spewing out what this report says
  

16                  with no foundation is objectionable,
  

17                  irrelevant and not competent testimony.
  

18             MR. SNEED:  We've had a number of photographs --
  

19                  that are located and showed what they're next
  

20                  to and that's the purpose of those two
  

21                  photographs.  It shows Madison -- location of
  

22                  the plant that was the subject of the study.
  

23             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  So the value of the Google map
  

24                  photos, aerials are specifically to give a
  

25                  greater visibility of what is in the report
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 1                  due to the fact that -- due to the opinion
  

 2                  that what is in the report is blurry?
  

 3             MR. SNEED:  The photograph in -- the site plant
  

 4                  that they have in the report was giving the
  

 5                  location and you can't read it, it's blurred.
  

 6                  I can put it back up if you want.  It's just
  

 7                  --
  

 8             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Yes, please, so we can make a
  

 9                  decision on this and keep moving.  If you
  

10                  would give us a comparison.  Okay.
  

11                       My challenge here is that it would take
  

12                  some time for us to wind these two up to know
  

13                  that we're looking at the exact same thing.
  

14             MR. SNEED:  Well, let's see, the report says that
  

15                  asphalt facilities 2 and 3 and concrete plant
  

16                  1 and there's 1, 2 and 3.  So we're just
  

17                  trying to give you a better picture of the
  

18                  same neighborhood where the plant is located.
  

19             MR. GULDEN:  Well, as long as the picture is from
  

20                  2007.
  

21             MR. SNEED:  No, it's --
  

22             MR. GULDEN:  Mr. Vandenmeiracker, was this picture
  

23                  taken in 2007, the ones that you're offering
  

24                  as 32 and 33?
  

25             THE WITNESS:  So exhibit, it's actually Exhibit 9
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 1                  would be prior to 2007 and 33 would be a more
  

 2                  recent photo.
  

 3             MR. GULDEN:  How more recent?
  

 4             THE WITNESS:  Within the last few years.
  

 5             MR. GULDEN:  So -- I'm sorry, Albert, go ahead.
  

 6   Q.   Do the photos fairly reflect what's shown in the quarry
  

 7        in the report?
  

 8   A.   Yes.  The purpose of this is not to count the number of
  

 9        tanks or count the number of houses.  We're just trying
  

10        to show a clearer image of these three plants that are
  

11        described in the CDC report.
  

12             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I think we're just trying to
  

13                  decide whether or not to sustain the
  

14                  objection at this point.  And that's my, I
  

15                  guess, my question.  Is there from the board,
  

16                  do you see a value of the difference in what
  

17                  -- the photographs?  I am comfortable with
  

18                  staying with what's within the report.
  

19             MS. RHINEHART:  Yes.
  

20             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Yes.  So sustained.
  

21             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 30 was marked
  

22                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

23                  for review)
  

24   Q.   Okay.  Let me ask you what Exhibit 30 is?
  

25   A.   30 is a slide that I developed to summarize some of the



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

210

  

 1        results from the CDC study, the ones relevant to health
  

 2        exposure.  So a little bit of background on the CDC
  

 3        study, it was a requested by residents in the area --
  

 4             MR. GULDEN:  Well, I'm going to, I'm just going to
  

 5                  object.  I mean, if the board's just going to
  

 6                  allow him to read straight, or if the board's
  

 7                  going to allow him to read straight from the
  

 8                  report, we're going to object to that.  If
  

 9                  he's got some foundation as to his work on
  

10                  the report, what he did on the report to
  

11                  verify it.  But if he's just reading from it,
  

12                  I don't know that he has any special
  

13                  expertise as a medical professional or
  

14                  somebody that worked at the CDC.
  

15             MR. SNEED:  This is an official report by the
  

16                  Center for Disease Control that made findings
  

17                  about the health and safety of an asphalt
  

18                  plant which was located right next to a
  

19                  neighborhood as shown by the photograph which
  

20                  is a different and more dangerous plant than
  

21                  this one that we have here.
  

22             MR. GULDEN:  Well, that's all testimony that
  

23                  hasn't been testified that there's --
  

24             MR. SNEED:  Well, that's what --
  

25             MR. GULDEN:  -- dangerous.
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 1             MR. SNEED:  -- the report shows.  And it's an
  

 2                  official report from the Center of Disease
  

 3                  Control that studied an asphalt plant for two
  

 4                  years and found it was not hazardous and
  

 5                  that's the purpose that we're introducing it.
  

 6             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And his testimony to that is?
  

 7             MR. SNEED:  He's aware of it as a published
  

 8                  federal government report on the safety of an
  

 9                  asphalt plant of a similar plant.
  

10             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And his expertise associated
  

11                  with the report is what?
  

12             MR. SNEED:  That he's an expert in the emissions
  

13                  coming from an asphalt plant and the
  

14                  regulations regarding pollutants and toxic
  

15                  air emissions.
  

16             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  So he is just clarifying or
  

17                  going to present what is in the report as an
  

18                  expert in air quality?
  

19             MR. SNEED:  Right.
  

20             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Okay.  Proceed.
  

21   BY MR. SNEED:
  

22   Q.   So what is your study about, your summary here on
  

23        Exhibit 30?
  

24   A.   Yes, this was a study that was commissioned -- was
  

25        generated by the CDC at the request of some residents
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 1        in Salisbury that were located in the vicinity of an
  

 2        asphalt plant.  That asphalt plant was actually
  

 3        producing about 180 tons per hour of product and the
  

 4        results of that study showed that polycyclic aromatic
  

 5        hydrocarbons or PAH's, any volatile organic compounds
  

 6        released did not pose any acute or chronic public
  

 7        health hazard.  And that's a conclusion from the study,
  

 8        that's not an interpretation of mine.
  

 9             Particulate levels were above regulatory levels or
  

10        limits and could cause issues with those that are
  

11        sensitive such as asthmatics.  And those would have
  

12        been -- the source of that would have been from
  

13        handling particulate containing materials.  And, you
  

14        know, over the operational lifetime the equipment
  

15        likely released less pollutants to the community than
  

16        what the study used is its input parameters to
  

17        determine if there was any health risk.
  

18   Q.   All right.  Now, that plant rated at 180 tons per hour?
  

19   A.   That's right.
  

20   Q.   That's a little bit more than the Madison asphalt plant
  

21        at 170 tons per hour?
  

22   A.   That's right.
  

23   Q.   But that was a -- was a batch?
  

24   A.   Batch mix plant, that's right.
  

25   Q.   Now, do batch mix plants emit more particulate matter
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 1        than non-batch mix plants like the Madison plant?
  

 2   A.   That's right.  The batch operations are often less
  

 3        efficient.  To put some qualitative numbers on it, the
  

 4        EPA emission factors that we use for estimating
  

 5        emissions from asphalt plants, there are factors for
  

 6        batch and continuous mix plants.  The batch plant
  

 7        particulate factor is about 25 percent higher than a
  

 8        continuous mix plant.
  

 9   Q.   Twenty-five percent higher.  And what is Exhibit 31?
  

10   A.   Do I have 31?
  

11   Q.   No, you don't.
  

12             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Number 31 was marked
  

13                  for identification and passed to the witness
  

14                  for review)
  

15   A.   So the CDC did have some recommendations in the report
  

16        that the facility should install closed transfer units
  

17        and employ techniques, other techniques like that to
  

18        control particulate.  Something that's very effective
  

19        and probably already uses a quarry as wetting
  

20        materials.
  

21   Q.   Now, could you tell from the quarry how close the
  

22        residential areas were at the plant?
  

23   A.   So I don't  have a specific distance but from a
  

24        relative standpoint the houses are very, very close to
  

25        the asphalt plant.  If you can put one of the diagrams
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 1        up either from Exhibit 9 or 33.  Either one would
  

 2        suffice.
  

 3             MR. GULDEN:  I'll object to 33 unless he can
  

 4                  verify that it was taken in 2007 when the
  

 5                  report was written.
  

 6   A.   Let's just use 9.
  

 7   Q.   What does 9 show?
  

 8   A.   So can you put up a slide, or page 19 of the CDC
  

 9        report?
  

10             So on this diagram north is up and plots 1 and 2
  

11        are the properties for the asphalt plant and the cement
  

12        plant.  Just north of that there is a neighborhood.
  

13        There's a row of houses running roughly from left to
  

14        right, a little bit of an angle.
  

15             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Would you come down -- so we
  

16                  could -- and point these out for us?
  

17                       It actually is -- if you're sitting, and
  

18                  actually using the pointer it does help --
  

19             THE WITNESS:  I can --
  

20             MR. LAWS:  You can use the microphone too.
  

21             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And I'm glad, you are exactly
  

22                  right, you should use the mic too.
  

23   A.   Okay.  Let's try this.  So looking left to right, this
  

24        is the cement plant, this is the asphalt plant and this
  

25        is a asphalt handling operation where they bring in
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 1        liquid asphalt and then ship it out.  So it's sort of a
  

 2        terminal.  The row of houses that I mentioned is here.
  

 3        So this is --
  

 4             MR. GULDEN:  So I'm going to -- again, I'm going
  

 5                  to have to object.  He testified he's never
  

 6                  been out there.  I don't know -- and he
  

 7                  looked at a 2018 map.  I don't know how he
  

 8                  can testify to where these row of houses are.
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  They look like houses to me.
  

10             MR. GULDEN:  Right here on B?  I don't mean to --
  

11             THE WITNESS:  No.  This is the row of houses here.
  

12             MR. GULDEN:  Okay.  And you've been out there?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  I have not.  I've driven through
  

14                  Salisbury, but -- there's other houses here
  

15                  you can see as well, just to get a --
  

16             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I'm going to put this to the
  

17                  board.  Are we comfortable with proceeding
  

18                  with this information with him not having
  

19                  been to the site, just totally based on an
  

20                  aerial part with that many notations?  My
  

21                  concern is that there's no notations on the
  

22                  map to state that that is what we're looking
  

23                  at.  Vote from the board?
  

24             MR. LAWS:  Let me give you his objection.  You can
  

25                  allow him to testify and you can let that in
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 1                  but you can give it whatever weight that you
  

 2                  deem to give it.  If you believe it to be a
  

 3                  house and that's what the photograph shows
  

 4                  then you can give it weight.  If you don't
  

 5                  think there's a house there then you can give
  

 6                  it very little weight.  But it lets you allow
  

 7                  it, if that helps.
  

 8             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Are we comfortable with that?
  

 9                  Yes.  Proceed.
  

10   A.   I think that's basically all we have on the study that
  

11        it is an asphalt plant.  The CDC determined that there
  

12        was not any adverse health effect from the toxic air
  

13        pollutants or organic compounds from the asphalt.
  

14   Q.   So based on your expertise in air dispersion models,
  

15        the CDC study, the difference between the sites in
  

16        Madison County versus the site in Salisbury --
  

17             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Sneed, would you
  

18                  pull the microphone around again?  I know
  

19                  it's a lot of maneuvering.
  

20   Q.   Strike that last question.  Previously introduced were
  

21        Exhibits 11, 12 and 13, have you seen these and are you
  

22        familiar with them?
  

23             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 11, 12 and
  

24                  13 previously marked for identification were
  

25                  passed to the witness for review)
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 1   A.   Yes, I'm familiar with those three exhibits.
  

 2   Q.   All right.  And they show the -- what do they show?
  

 3   A.   They show distances between the proposed Madison
  

 4        asphalt plant and neighbors adjacent to the quarry
  

 5        boundary.
  

 6   Q.   And what's the closest residence?
  

 7   A.   We have 1400 feet, 1,095 and 1400.  This appears to me
  

 8        that the closest is about 1,000 feet.  Right.  The
  

 9        closest residence is about 1,000 feet from those three
  

10        graphs.
  

11   Q.   Now, based on your reading of the map and the report,
  

12        can you tell us whether the houses in the neighborhood
  

13        across the street from the asphalt plant are closer
  

14        than that?
  

15   A.   They are.
  

16   Q.   And based on your expertise in air dispersion modeling
  

17        and the CDC study, the difference between the sites and
  

18        the adjacent properties, have you formed an opinion
  

19        satisfactory to yourself whether the Madison asphalt
  

20        plant will adversely affect the health or safety of
  

21        persons working or residing in the neighborhood?
  

22             MR. GULDEN:  I'll object to the form of that
  

23                  question.  He hadn't talked about safety.
  

24             MR. SNEED:  What is the air quality about?
  

25             MR. GULDEN:  There is --
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 1             MR. SNEED:  Health --
  

 2             MR. GULDEN:  Except safety involves more than just
  

 3                  air quality.  We would just object if he's
  

 4                  making a comparison based upon the Salisbury
  

 5                  report which he didn't participate, he
  

 6                  doesn't -- never been to the site and only
  

 7                  read the modeling.
  

 8   Q.   Do you have such an opinion?
  

 9   A.   I have formed an opinion, yes.
  

10   Q.   What is that opinion?
  

11   A.   My opinion is that the proposed Madison asphalt plant
  

12        is not going to be injurious to the public, community
  

13        or the health of any of the residents near or in
  

14        Marshall.
  

15   Q.   And based upon your expertise in air dispersion
  

16        modeling and the studies that you have read and the CDC
  

17        study and the neighbors -- distance to neighbors, have
  

18        you formed an opinion whether the Madison asphalt plant
  

19        will be detrimental to public welfare?
  

20             MR. GULDEN:  Object again on the same foundation,
  

21                  same basis.  He's got no expertise in this
  

22                  report and he's basing off this report his
  

23                  opinion.  It is clearly without foundation
  

24                  because he's just read the report.
  

25             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I will sustain and as long he
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 1                  keeps his opinions on air quality then that
  

 2                  would --
  

 3   Q.   So based upon --
  

 4             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  -- continue.
  

 5   Q.   Based upon your study of this location and the air
  

 6        dispersion modeling and your knowledge of the limits,
  

 7        allowable limits of ambient limits for all of these air
  

 8        pollutants, do you have an opinion whether or not the
  

 9        Madison asphalt plant would be detrimental to public
  

10        welfare?
  

11   A.   I have formed an opinion.
  

12   Q.   What is that opinion?
  

13   A.   That it will not be harmful to the community.
  

14   Q.   Based on the same matters, have you formed an opinion
  

15        whether it will be injurious to property or public
  

16        improvements in the neighborhood?
  

17             MR. GULDEN:  Objection to that.  He has no
  

18                  experience, or yes, absolutely zero
  

19                  foundation has been brought out about his
  

20                  ability to assess the value of property --
  

21             MR. SNEED:  I'm not asking that question.  I asked
  

22                  whether it was injurious to the property.
  

23             MR. GULDEN:  He has no foundation to say whether
  

24                  it's injurious to property of the public
  

25                  improvements.
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 1             MR. SNEED:  Well, injurious actually doesn't say
  

 2                  that, it says injury and that's what I'm
  

 3                  asking him.  Will this asphalt plant injure
  

 4                  any property in the neighborhood, do you have
  

 5                  an opinion of that?
  

 6             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I would sustain.
  

 7   Q.   Were there going to be any chemicals deposited on
  

 8        people's property that would injure the property?
  

 9   A.   So let me elaborate a little bit.  The health exposure
  

10        levels for humans are much lower than what would be
  

11        damaging to property or the environment, trees and
  

12        houses, cars.  Something's going to harm a person
  

13        before it's going to harm a structure, right?  So we
  

14        know based on this study that if human health is
  

15        protected, we must be able to conclude that there's no
  

16        way that the structures or property could be damaged by
  

17        what is emitted from this plant.
  

18   Q.   Since the dispersion model based on maximum operation
  

19        the assumption is the plant's going to operate 365,
  

20        24/7 and the plant operation of someone who's working
  

21        from Monday through Saturday 6:00 to 5:00, 11 months a
  

22        year, are the results from a limited operation likely
  

23        be more or less than what you've shown in your air
  

24        dispersion model?
  

25   A.   So limited operation means that there would be less
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 1        emissions from the facility and less emissions means
  

 2        that the offsite concentration would be lower.  So the
  

 3        exposure would be even lower that what we predicted.
  

 4   Q.   After the plant's construction if it's permitted, is
  

 5        there a requirement that they do an actual emissions
  

 6        test on it?
  

 7   A.   That's right.  There's something called stack test
  

 8        where a sample would be extracted from the exhaust from
  

 9        the baghouse and it would be analyzed to determine if
  

10        it meets the regulatory requirements.
  

11             MR. BRIGGS:  How often is that test done?
  

12             THE WITNESS:  That will be something that will be
  

13                  determined based on the permit writer, the
  

14                  permit reviewer.  In my experience, it's
  

15                  anywhere from annually to every five years.
  

16             MR. TUZIW:  Is it a scheduled test or is it a
  

17                  surprise test?
  

18             THE WITNESS:  It is scheduled because it is very
  

19                  complicated activity.  It's not just a simple
  

20                  graph sample.  Each test run -- there's three
  

21                  test runs, each run lasts at least one hour.
  

22                  For some tests it's a two-hour run so it can
  

23                  be anywhere from three hours of actual
  

24                  sampling to six hours.
  

25             MR. TUZIW:  Will the close proximity of the
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 1                  concrete plant contaminate that test?
  

 2             THE WITNESS:  I wouldn't think so.  It's a -- it's
  

 3                  a test within the stack from the baghouse.  I
  

 4                  don't think that would be relevant.
  

 5             MR. TUZIW:  Thank you.
  

 6   Q.   Now, two more exhibits.
  

 7             (WHEREUPON, Applicant Exhibit Numbers 42 and 46
  

 8                  were marked for identification and passed to
  

 9                  the witness for review)
  

10   Q.   So I've handed you an exhibit marked Number 42, can you
  

11        identify it?
  

12   A.   It's a diagram that shows an overhead view of the
  

13        asphalt plant as it's proposed as well as two side
  

14        views or elevation views.
  

15   Q.   Right.  And the heights of the structures are in there.
  

16   A.   Yeah, there are several dimensions that are listed on
  

17        the elevation or the side views.
  

18   Q.   All right.  And right here we have heights of the two
  

19        plants?  In the lower left.
  

20   A.   Better come and look at what you're looking at.
  

21             MR. TUZIW:  Have a seat.
  

22   A.   This is one of the side -- this is one of the side
  

23        views of the plant and this dimension from this plant
  

24        down to the ground is 49 feet five inches.  So that
  

25        represents from the top of the silo to the ground
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 1        level.
  

 2   Q.   And we have the tanks?
  

 3   A.   Right.  These are the tanks.  So the collar dimension
  

 4        is 47 feet seven inches.
  

 5   Q.   Yesterday or last time there was some confusion about
  

 6        or a suggestion made about the difference between 14.5
  

 7        and 15.7 in the diameter of the tank.  Do you recall
  

 8        that?
  

 9   A.   I do.
  

10   Q.   Is there an explanation for that?
  

11   A.   Right.  It said the smaller dimension is the diameter
  

12        of the tank itself and the larger dimension represents
  

13        the structure around the tank so there's sort of a
  

14        structure, a square structure around that tank.  So
  

15        it's representing two slightly different things, but --
  

16   Q.   Which one would you use for the coverage question?
  

17   A.   The larger.
  

18   Q.   And is that -- what is Exhibit 46?
  

19   A.   This is a summary of the coverage areas, the square
  

20        footage to summarize what the percent coverage is for
  

21        the facility.
  

22             MR. SNEED:  We'd offer 42 and 46.
  

23             MR. RAMSEY:  Could we see the profile view?  Do
  

24                  you have it close to pass it down to the
  

25                  board --
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 1             MR. BRIGGS:  What is the purpose of the square
  

 2                  structure around the tank?
  

 3             THE WITNESS:  It's structural in nature but
  

 4                  probably wouldn't want to discuss more than
  

 5                  that, it'd be outside of my area of
  

 6                  expertise.  I'm not a structural engineer.
  

 7             MR. TUZIW:  Is it used for containment or just --
  

 8             THE WITNESS:  No, it's not for containment.
  

 9             MR. SNEED:  (Inaudible)  I'm done.
  

10             MR. GULDEN:  Oh, thank you, Mr. Sneed.
  

11   C R O S S - E X A M I N A T I O N  BY MR. GULDEN:
  

12   Q.   Mr. Vandenmeiracker, the last question you just asked,
  

13        is that the larger area around those silos or the
  

14        asphalt cement tank and diesel fuel tank are not for
  

15        containment, is that correct?  Is that what you just
  

16        said?
  

17   A.   That's right.
  

18   Q.   So if -- if one of the -- let's say the 15,000-gallon
  

19        diesel tank had a leak and ran down into the creek and
  

20        then into the French Broad River, is your opinion still
  

21        the same that this asphalt plant doesn't have an
  

22        injurious effect on property?
  

23   A.   It's a very unlikely hypothetical situation that you
  

24        propose.  The tank is a double-wall tank so you have to
  

25        have a double failure of that tank.



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

225

  

 1   Q.   The -- you work down in South Carolina?
  

 2   A.   I live in South Carolina, that's right.
  

 3   Q.   So what the Union County, South Carolina fire that
  

 4        happened last month, wasn't that a fire related to
  

 5        piercing of some double-wall asphalt tanks?
  

 6   A.   I'm not familiar with that fire.
  

 7   Q.   You live right down -- how far away do you live from
  

 8        Union County?
  

 9   A.   It's probably at least an hour drive.
  

10   Q.   And you did not hear it on the news?
  

11   A.   I did not.
  

12   Q.   But your site plan that you have has no containment for
  

13        any kind of leak?
  

14   A.   That's not true.  We have secondary containment on the
  

15        storage tanks for liquids and there is a square
  

16        containment area what I call tertiary containment
  

17        that's part of the diagram as well.
  

18   Q.   Tertiary containment, what's that?
  

19   A.   It's just a third level so if for some reason there
  

20        were still the scenario you provided earlier
  

21        hypothetically that tertiary containment would capture
  

22        that.
  

23   Q.   How big -- where is it?
  

24   A.   I don't have a diagram in front of me.  Do you still
  

25        have the large poster board from yesterday?
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 1   Q.   Yes.  And we're asking about tertiary containment, do
  

 2        you see that on here?
  

 3   A.   I do not see it on this diagram.  It's not required but
  

 4        it is something that will be installed.
  

 5   Q.   Best practices?
  

 6   A.   Not even an expectation as a best practice.  It's going
  

 7        above and beyond whatever environmental requirements
  

 8        about best practices require.
  

 9   Q.   I want to go back quick and get some of your knowledge
  

10        on this Salisbury study just so I can satisfy myself.
  

11        What days were -- what days were the samples taken?
  

12   A.   There were lots of sampling events.  I don't believe it
  

13        was just a discreet sampling event.
  

14   Q.   So if the report says that they were sampling over two
  

15        days, you're disagreeing with that?
  

16   A.   I'm saying that's true but there's other sampling
  

17        events that were involved as well.
  

18   Q.   So although limited to two days of sampling is it true
  

19        or false?
  

20   A.   I believe they're just referring to one pollutant
  

21        there; so what day do you want?
  

22   Q.   I don't know, you're the one that knows this report.
  

23   A.   I haven't committed it to memory.  I don't have an
  

24        eidetic memory.
  

25   Q.   Blackbirds and crows have eidetic memories, you know
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 1        that?
  

 2   A.   Who?
  

 3   Q.   Crows and blackbirds.
  

 4   A.   Did not know that.  Interesting.
  

 5   Q.   So you don't know whether there was more than one day
  

 6        or two days or three days of sampling in this report?
  

 7   A.   I do not.
  

 8   Q.   Do you know what days of the week there were samples?
  

 9   A.   No, not off the top of my head.
  

10   Q.   Do you know if the asphalt plants were running at the
  

11        time the samples were taken?
  

12   A.   I do not know that, no.
  

13   Q.   Do you know why the investigative report was done?
  

14   A.   My understanding based on reading the report is it was
  

15        requested by members of the community.
  

16   Q.   Because those members of the community complained about
  

17        unexpected gastrointestinal illness, respiratory
  

18        problems, cancer clusters, high suicide rates and
  

19        death.  For how many years did those residents complain
  

20        about it?
  

21   A.   It was some time, five years or so, 10 years.  I'm not
  

22        sure.
  

23   Q.   Maybe seven years?
  

24   A.   Okay.
  

25   Q.   Okay.  And do you realize that while this report was
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 1        getting done one of the asphalt plant went out of
  

 2        business?
  

 3   A.   There's only one asphalt plant there, right?
  

 4   Q.   Yeah.  So I think there might have been two.  I don't
  

 5        know, I'm not the expert.  How many asphalt plants were
  

 6        there?
  

 7   A.   There's just one asphalt plant at that location.  The
  

 8        other -- the other two facilities are cement plants and
  

 9        a facility that handles liquid asphalt.
  

10   Q.   Which is different than an asphalt plant?
  

11   A.   It is.  They're not mixing asphalt with rock, they're
  

12        only bringing in tank cars of asphalt, putting it in
  

13        storage tank and then transferring that to tank trucks
  

14        so that it can be shipped to other asphalt plants.
  

15   Q.   So which one of those asphalt facilities went out of
  

16        business?
  

17   A.   I don't know.  I don't know that any of them went out
  

18        of business.
  

19   Q.   "Associated Asphalt has reportedly gone out of
  

20        business."  I'm reading from page 13.
  

21   A.   Okay.
  

22   Q.   You didn't know that?
  

23   A.   I don't remember that.
  

24   Q.   That eidetic memory is failing you today.
  

25   A.   I said I didn't have it.
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 1   Q.   All right.  I got you.  Did you know that in the
  

 2        report, because it was only taken over a two-day
  

 3        period, that the summary of the report which you've
  

 4        been quoting from, said that the drafters, the authors,
  

 5        of which I think you were one, acknowledged that the
  

 6        data represents a brief period of time and hysterical
  

 7        -- strike that, historical air contaminant levels are
  

 8        not represented.  Did you know that that's what it
  

 9        says?
  

10   A.   I believe that's in there.
  

11   Q.   Yeah, it's on page 1.  That's what it says right there
  

12        on page 1.  It represents a brief period, i.e., two
  

13        days in time and historical air contaminant levels are
  

14        not represented.  Right?  And so you're putting your
  

15        faith and your opinion on this report --
  

16   A.   No, I'm not putting my faith in this report.  My
  

17        opinion is primarily formed based on the air dispersion
  

18        modeling that we did.  This is just providing another
  

19        piece of comparative material, that there's an
  

20        independent study, the CDC is an independent
  

21        organization that concluded that there were not adverse
  

22        health effects from the operation of these plants based
  

23        on their sampling and their data.  But again, my
  

24        opinion is primarily based on the air dispersion model.
  

25   Q.   Yeah, we'll get to that.  But this opinion, you have no
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 1        idea whether the plants were operating on that
  

 2        particular day, whether they were still in business,
  

 3        how many days it happened, what they sampled, what they
  

 4        modeled, you don't know any of that, you just read this
  

 5        report?
  

 6   A.   I did read the report.  It would be ridiculous for
  

 7        someone to do a study if the plant's not operating.  I
  

 8        mean, logically, I would have more faith in our
  

 9        government.  (Audience laughing)
  

10   Q.   Well, let's -- let's --
  

11   A.   I -- I take offense to laughing at that because these
  

12        are professionals.  They have, you know, they live in
  

13        communities.  You know, we like to make fun of
  

14        government but these are professionals.
  

15   Q.   Yeah.  And so in order to have a really good study with
  

16        some control groups and other things, you would think
  

17        that they would have taken it over more than just two
  

18        days of samples, right?  You would have taken more than
  

19        two days of samples?  Yes, you -- is that a yes?
  

20   A.   Depending on what conclusion I was trying to come to,
  

21        yes.
  

22   Q.   So if you're trying to come to a conclusion that there
  

23        was no acute and chronic adverse effect, wouldn't you
  

24        limit the number of days to two?
  

25   A.   If a sampling is done in such a way where the samples
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 1        are taken at the expected location with a maximum
  

 2        concentration is predicted by the model, a couple of
  

 3        days could be representative of a normal operation and
  

 4        could be extrapolated out to a year.
  

 5   Q.   Yeah, but in their first page they acknowledged that it
  

 6        wasn't, right?  So two days -- so really, the no acute,
  

 7        the no chronic effect that this report has, of course,
  

 8        they're going to say that because they only took two
  

 9        days of samples.  That's really the only conclusion
  

10        they could have come to.
  

11   A.   I think they could have detected adverse levels if they
  

12        were present in two days.
  

13   Q.   So they did detect adverse levels of particulate
  

14        matters, you know what their conclusion was on that?
  

15   A.   That they were potentially an issue for people who were
  

16        sensitive such as asthmatics.
  

17   Q.   Such as people that have respiratory irritation,
  

18        children, asthmatics, elderly and folks with
  

19        preexisting respiratory conditions?
  

20   A.   Right.
  

21   Q.   Right.  All those sensitive groups, right?
  

22   A.   That's right.
  

23             UNIDENTIFIED MALE:  That's my family.  That's my
  

24                  family.
  

25             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  I'm sorry, no.
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 1   Q.   How close are the closest sensitive receptors for the
  

 2        proposed facility?
  

 3   A.   I don't have an answer for that but it's -- it's at
  

 4        least 800 feet away.
  

 5   Q.   It's at least 800 feet away.
  

 6   A.   It's --
  

 7   Q.   In the --
  

 8   A.   It's beyond property boundary.
  

 9   Q.   In the Salisbury report where were the closest
  

10        sensitive receptors to that asphalt plant?
  

11   A.   I don't know.
  

12   Q.   So you don't know where the elderly people were, where
  

13        the people with preexisting respiratory conditions
  

14        were, where the children and other folks with let's
  

15        say, COPD, you don't know where they were in the
  

16        Salisbury report?
  

17   A.   I haven't committed that to memory, no.  So I'd like to
  

18        add that --
  

19   Q.   Is this part -- is this an answer to one of my
  

20        questions?
  

21   A.   Sure.
  

22   Q.   You're going to add something to a question that you
  

23        already answered?
  

24   A.   I would like to clarify something related to the asthma
  

25        issue.  So you asked me about the conclusion of that
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 1        study.
  

 2   Q.   Yes, I did.
  

 3   A.   And I acknowledged that that facility was determined to
  

 4        have an adverse impact because of that and the primary
  

 5        cause or the primary source of dust is from material
  

 6        handling operations and from the emissions from the
  

 7        facility.  We remove with the baghouse typical
  

 8        particulate emissions greater than 99 percent and
  

 9        fugitive dust emissions are easily controlled at the
  

10        facility and prevent those from going offsite.
  

11   Q.   Fugitive dust occurs when you have the loading of the
  

12        aggregate, the dumping of the aggregate, the filling of
  

13        the bins, the driving on the roads, the loading of the
  

14        asphalt into the -- into the truck.  Those are all the
  

15        fugitive emissions you're talking about?
  

16   A.   That's right.
  

17   Q.   And your solution is to what, water them down?
  

18   A.   That's one example, yeah.
  

19   Q.   You're going to -- so 24 hours a day when you're
  

20        operating you're expecting someone out there to water
  

21        down the road when the big trucks come in?
  

22   A.   When days when natural rainfall isn't enough or
  

23        humidity isn't enough to keep it from being dusty.
  

24        It's going to be a day-by-day basis to determine how
  

25        often that's necessary.
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 1   Q.   You had indicated fugitive dust; where else in your
  

 2        experience does fugitive dust in this asphalt plant,
  

 3        where is it going to come from?
  

 4   A.   I think your list of sources was complete.  I can't
  

 5        think of any others.
  

 6   Q.   So do you think, and we'll say cumulative or aggregate,
  

 7        do you think there could be a potential aggregate
  

 8        effect of this fugitive dust from the quarry, the
  

 9        asphalt plant, and the cement plant all operating on a
  

10        particular day?
  

11   A.   It would take a unique set of circumstances for that to
  

12        happen.  So the fugitive dust is going to follow the
  

13        wind direction and the wind would have to line up with
  

14        all three sources, so the wind direction would have to
  

15        go across the quarry, across the asphalt plant, across
  

16        the cement plant for those to be cumulative.
  

17        Otherwise, the wind is going to just tend to carry
  

18        emissions in different directions or they wouldn't --
  

19        it wouldn't overlap.
  

20   Q.   I mean, does -- does -- is wind a very narrow tunnel?
  

21        Like, when it winds it's just what, a very narrow
  

22        tunnel?  Isn't wind over a large area?
  

23   A.   Right.  And then it varies even minute by minute in
  

24        directions.
  

25   Q.   Right.  And how close is the quarry when it blasts and
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 1        when they crush to where the proposed asphalt plant is
  

 2        going to sit?
  

 3   A.   It's within hundreds of feet.
  

 4   Q.   And how close is that to the concrete plant?
  

 5   A.   Similar distance.
  

 6   Q.   And so you're telling this Board of Adjustment that you
  

 7        don't think when the wind is blowing that any of those
  

 8        fugitive dust emissions from any of those are going to
  

 9        commingle and create a cumulative or an aggregate
  

10        effect of dust?
  

11   A.   I didn't say that.  What I said was it would take a
  

12        unique set of circumstances for the wind to be from
  

13        just the right direction to cause it to overlap, to
  

14        cause it to be cumulative.
  

15   Q.   Like, isn't this area pretty unique?
  

16   A.   I mean, from what perspective?
  

17   Q.   Geo -- geographically or geology?  Geographically,
  

18        isn't it pretty unique geographically?
  

19   A.   I still don't understand the question.
  

20   Q.   Oh, because it is getting late.  So you've got --
  

21        you've got these high mountain ridges around the side;
  

22        you've got these low valleys, doesn't that create a
  

23        unique temperature inversion scenario?
  

24   A.   Geography doesn't necessarily create the inversion but
  

25        I understand and I would expect that inversions can
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 1        occur here.
  

 2   Q.   Yeah.  Did you, in part of your analysis consider any
  

 3        inversions or the effect an inversion, a temperature
  

 4        inversion would have on the dispersion of pollutants?
  

 5   A.   Right.  So the air dispersion model brings in a variety
  

 6        of meteorological conditions, temperatures and
  

 7        velocities of wind at different levels in the
  

 8        atmosphere and it accounts for inversion-type
  

 9        conditions.
  

10   Q.   And the modeling, if I'm reading your report correctly,
  

11        looking at the weather data, wasn't that from like
  

12        modeled off of a site in Jupiter?
  

13   A.   No.  The data was provided by North Carolina and it's
  

14        a, as I mentioned before, they take data from multiple
  

15        sites and develop a data set for our particular
  

16        facility because of the unique nature of the mountains
  

17        in Western North Carolina.
  

18   Q.   You had talked about -- well, strike that.
  

19             Let's go back to your report.  During the first
  

20        six months after startup, how many tests to determine
  

21        compliance with the air quality permit will occur?
  

22        Within the first six months, how many tests to ensure
  

23        compliance with the air quality permit will occur?
  

24   A.   So if you mean by tests, say stack tests of the
  

25        emissions from the stack, there's one test but that's
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 1        not a monitoring that will be required.
  

 2   Q.   When does that test occur?
  

 3   A.   It's based on when they achieve peak production but it
  

 4        also has to be done within a specific amount of time.
  

 5   Q.   So it has to be done within the first six months --
  

 6   A.   Right.
  

 7   Q.   -- and so if they are getting their feet wet at making
  

 8        asphalt, and they never reach 170 tons of hot mix
  

 9        asphalt, the first time you'll do a baghouse stack test
  

10        is six months after they become operational?
  

11   A.   It -- it could be sooner and it likely will be sooner,
  

12        but they have up to 180 days to do that testing.
  

13   Q.   And so what's to prevent emissions in excess of what is
  

14        allowed during that first six months prior to any
  

15        baghouse stack testing?
  

16   A.   Right.  So the permit will require them to operate
  

17        baghouse at all times that the equipment is in
  

18        operation.  They'll be required to verify that the
  

19        emissions are piped up from the source to the baghouse.
  

20        They'll be required most likely to do inspections of
  

21        the ductwork in the baghouse to make sure that it's
  

22        maintaining its integrity and there will be some sort
  

23        of control device monitoring.  This is something that
  

24        will be negotiated with the permit writer, but in my
  

25        experience there's usually one of two things, either a
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 1        visual evaluation to verify that there's nothing coming
  

 2        out of the stack on a daily basis or a parameter
  

 3        reading that indicates whether or not the baghouse is
  

 4        operating properly.  Usually a pressure differential so
  

 5        pressure drop readings to make sure that that baghouse
  

 6        is operating properly.
  

 7   Q.   You had indicated that some of these criteria
  

 8        pollutants, which I think you said include sulphur
  

 9        dioxide, nitrogen oxide, carbon monoxide, VOC, volatile
  

10        organic compound, are regulated to a certain extent?
  

11   A.   Sure, yeah.
  

12   Q.   And those, and I may have missed one and I'm sorry if I
  

13        did, but those criteria pollutants are in -- the
  

14        information that you provided to the board in Exhibit
  

15        10 doesn't have a measurement of those criteria
  

16        pollutants?
  

17   A.   The one that is required is particulate, so that's the
  

18        -- what the baghouse is removing, is particulate and
  

19        the testing required for that.  The other pollutants
  

20        that you mentioned, the sulphur dioxide and the NOx
  

21        come from burning of fuel oil.  And there are thousands
  

22        if not more facilities, boilers that burn fuel oil.
  

23        Home heating is fuel oil.  The emissions from that are
  

24        well understood and generally don't require any type of
  

25        testing to verify that.
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 1   Q.   And so the testing, the criteria that you use so that
  

 2        you don't have to test criteria pollutant is based upon
  

 3        the one diesel engine that's going to be running this
  

 4        big drum that we heard about this afternoon?
  

 5   A.   So I may have confused you with that, and so there
  

 6        isn't a diesel engine.  So the diesel engine was a
  

 7        comparison that this is the level of emissions from the
  

 8        asphalt plant, I can't remember the number, let's say
  

 9        six tons per year.  If I ran a diesel engine for the
  

10        number of hours that I stated and it was a certain
  

11        size, it would emit a similar amount of emissions.
  

12   Q.   Okay --
  

13   A.   But -- but the emissions that we have are from a
  

14        burner, just like a burner on your stove, just bigger
  

15        or in your home, you know, natural gas heat.
  

16   Q.   Okay.  So yeah, you confused me but I may have confused
  

17        you with my question.  The burning of fuel, number two
  

18        diesel oil, creates these criteria pollutants, sulphur
  

19        dioxide, nitrogen oxide, carbon monoxide and volatile
  

20        organic compounds --
  

21   A.   Yes.
  

22   Q.   And you don't have to put the -- the state -- the state
  

23        doesn't require you to test for those criteria air
  

24        pollutants?
  

25   A.   It is the state that decides whether or not we have to
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 1        test for those pollutants or not.
  

 2   Q.   And -- but the burning of that fuel creates those
  

 3        pollutants?
  

 4   A.   Correct.
  

 5   Q.   The trucks that are going to be coming in to deliver
  

 6        the fuel, deliver the aggregate, deliver the recycled
  

 7        asphalt, the trucks that are getting loaded out at 15,
  

 8        20 times a day, maybe 40 times a day, they are all
  

 9        going to be burning fuel and release sulphur dioxide,
  

10        nitrogen oxide, carbon monoxide and volatile organic
  

11        compounds, is that correct?
  

12   A.   That's right.
  

13   Q.   And so all of that together along with the burner going
  

14        still didn't require any kind of sampling by the state?
  

15   A.   Well, we don't know what the state's going to require
  

16        at this point.  We don't have a permit, the permit's
  

17        under reading right now.
  

18   Q.   You didn't do any testing, sampling, modeling for those
  

19        criteria pollutants?
  

20   A.   Well, we couldn't have done any testing because the
  

21        facility is not built.  We did model the pollutants
  

22        that require modeling in North Carolina.  The level of
  

23        particulate and SO2 and the other pollutants you
  

24        mentioned are so low that North Carolina doesn't
  

25        require those to be modeled.
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 1   Q.   So how did you come up with your report that's labeled
  

 2        Exhibit 10 if you can't do any testing because the
  

 3        asphalt plant hasn't been built?
  

 4   A.   So we use the emission factors that are based on tests
  

 5        from other asphalt plants to predict what our emissions
  

 6        will be.
  

 7   Q.   And so you plug it into a nice little calculator and
  

 8        plug in the tonnage per day, the maximum per year and
  

 9        it spits out a number?
  

10   A.   That's right, a bunch of numbers.
  

11   Q.   Right, right, a bunch of numbers.  And it tells you, so
  

12        -- and it tells you what the expected level of
  

13        pollutants are going to be in tons per day, is that
  

14        correct?
  

15   A.   It actually provides it at different time frames,
  

16        pounds per hour, pounds per day, pounds per year.
  

17   Q.   So is it your pounds per hour, is that -- well, I guess
  

18        my question is, is that based on a 365-day year that
  

19        they're saying you're going to emit 7.21 pounds per
  

20        hour over a 365-day period?
  

21   A.   That's the way that we do air permitting, that's right.
  

22        We assume that it's operating all the time.
  

23   Q.   Is it --
  

24   A.   For -- for air dispersion modeling purposes.
  

25   Q.   Is it a limiting factor in your air dispersion model
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 1        that the maximum is a 100,000 tons is going to be
  

 2        produced?
  

 3   A.   So that's a good question that we should clarify.  The
  

 4        air dispersion model is based on the facility operating
  

 5        24 hours a day, 365 days per year.  There are figures
  

 6        in the application that take into account the fact that
  

 7        the facility's only going to, or it will be limited to
  

 8        producing 100,000 tons per year of asphalt.
  

 9   Q.   So is it -- so if I had a 100-ton gallon of pollutants
  

10        and drip a little bit of it into the French Broad River
  

11        every day and over a year I get rid of that 100,000
  

12        tons, is that -- that's -- that's what this report
  

13        shows.  What if I took that 100,000 and dumped it all
  

14        in one day or let's say 14 weeks, wouldn't that have a
  

15        far greater effect acutely at that one moment?  Like,
  

16        if I had a 55-gallon drum, if I had this, very toxic
  

17        and I took a little dropper and every day drop a little
  

18        bit of it into the French Broad River --
  

19   A.   Right.
  

20   Q.   -- all right, or as opposed to over a 14-week period I
  

21        just started dumping it, isn't there more of an acute
  

22        effect, just a sudden impact effect of the dumping over
  

23        a short period of time?
  

24   A.   Right, I would agree with that.
  

25   Q.   And so -- and this is the confusion that you tried to
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 1        clarify and I don't think you did.  They're limited to
  

 2        100 tons of asphalt per year.  Your model took into
  

 3        effect, or took into account that they were going to
  

 4        produce that over how many days?
  

 5   A.   So I may have confused it further, but 100,000 in the
  

 6        application has to do with those criteria pollutant
  

 7        emissions and what those would be on an annual basis.
  

 8        The air dispersion modeling assumes that they're
  

 9        running at a peak production rate of 170 tons per hour
  

10        every hour for the entire year and that would be much
  

11        more than 100,000 tons per year.  I can't do the math
  

12        in my head, but -- so we are limiting ourselves from a
  

13        permitting perspective to much less than the capacity
  

14        of the equipment on an annual basis but the modeling
  

15        takes into account the fact that over a short-term
  

16        period we would emit more than 100,000 stretched out
  

17        over a longer period of time.
  

18   Q.   I just thank you --
  

19   A.   I would be happy to stay as long as I needed to to work
  

20        this out, but --
  

21   Q.   But let me, what I'm saying is, did the permit have a
  

22        limiting factor of 100,000 tons of asphalt produced or
  

23        not, or did it just go off of 170 tons per hour?
  

24   A.   So certain parts of the application do recognize that
  

25        we're limited to 100,000 tons per year.  And in some of
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 1        the cumulative emissions of some of the pollutants.
  

 2        But the air dispersion model we assume worst case that
  

 3        we're going to emit the maximum rate every hour of the
  

 4        year.
  

 5   Q.   Okay.  Your air dispersion model, we talked about
  

 6        inversions, temperature inversions, what effect does
  

 7        that have on the upward dispersion of pollutants to
  

 8        dilute in the atmosphere?  What will an inversion do to
  

 9        the pollutants?
  

10   A.   Not a perfect analogy, but it sort of forms a cap, the
  

11        inversion forms a cap over a certain area and prevents
  

12        vertical mixing.  So very stable conditions, there
  

13        isn't, you know, communication between lower and higher
  

14        areas of the atmosphere -- emissions.
  

15   Q.   And so during a period of inversion when there is no
  

16        pollution dilution upwards, I mean, you know, the
  

17        solution to pollution is dilution, right?  So if we
  

18        don't have pollution dilution upwards in temperature
  

19        inversion and if it's held capped lower down, what in
  

20        your experience -- not in your experience, in your
  

21        training and education, how far are those balloons?
  

22        Can they disperse during a certain period of time until
  

23        there's enough heat to break through that inversion?
  

24        How long -- how far are they going to go out?
  

25   A.   So usually inversions are fairly short-lived because
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 1        they seem to happen overnight or in the morning hours.
  

 2        As soon as the sun comes out and starts to break up
  

 3        some of the cloud cover you get changes in temperature
  

 4        on the ground and in the air and then that starts to
  

 5        begin to cycle or move air currents around and starts
  

 6        to cause them mixing.  So it would be rare for
  

 7        inversions to last long, you know, for long periods of
  

 8        time.
  

 9   Q.   So thank you for that.  My question was, during this
  

10        period of time when the inversion happens and there's
  

11        no upward dilution of the pollution and there is this
  

12        cap, what is the potential dispersion -- dispersion of
  

13        the pollutants that will be emitted during the early
  

14        morning hours when the tank gets fired up at 6:30?
  

15   A.   Right.  So you're asking how far away will the
  

16        emissions go?
  

17   Q.   In a very long question, that's exactly what I asked.
  

18   A.   So when you have an inversion by its nature, that means
  

19        there's very little wind because if you have wind then
  

20        that's going to start to cause mixing.  Wind is what
  

21        moves the pollution so with no wind it's not going to
  

22        move very far.
  

23   Q.   Will it -- will it move 800 feet?
  

24   A.   It could, sure.
  

25   Q.   Could it potentially move 2,500 feet?



Bridges Court Reporting
828-429-7839

Application by Madison Asphalt, LLC for a Conditional Use Permit - Vol. 2 -
April 24, 2019

246

  

 1   A.   I would have to do some calculations, but I mean,
  

 2        what's 2,500 feet.  Assume, you know, a foot per
  

 3        minute, wind speed something very slow, I mean, that's
  

 4        2500 minutes.  That's hours.
  

 5   Q.   Do you, if it doesn't move and it doesn't disperse
  

 6        upwards, will it settle on the ground?  Because it just
  

 7        kind of -- does it just kind of stay right here?
  

 8   A.   It will -- it will tend to disperse within that
  

 9        inversion, within that cap but it's not necessarily
  

10        going to be attracted to the ground.
  

11   Q.   So yeah, so it'll hang out and kind of mix with the
  

12        regular air?
  

13   A.   Right.  It will tend to diffuse into the air that's
  

14        there and given enough time the concentration at the
  

15        ground level would be the same as underneath or at the
  

16        top of the inversion.
  

17   Q.   Do you know how close the closest daycare facility is
  

18        to this proposed asphalt site?
  

19   A.   I don't recall the exact number.  I think you mentioned
  

20        it yesterday.
  

21   Q.   Have you been to the site?
  

22   A.   I have not.
  

23   Q.   You haven't been to the site?
  

24   A.   No.
  

25   Q.   Do you know where the proposed asphalt plant's going?
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 1   A.   Sure.
  

 2   Q.   Okay.  Did you drive around the site at all?
  

 3   A.   No.
  

 4   Q.   So if I -- if I told you that the closest child
  

 5        development center is under a half mile, it's four --
  

 6        it's .43 miles, you'd have no independent knowledge to
  

 7        agree with that or not?
  

 8   A.   Correct.
  

 9   Q.   If I told you that the Elderberry Nursing Home is .59
  

10        miles away from the proposed facility, you'd have no
  

11        independent knowledge to acknowledge that?
  

12   A.   That's correct.
  

13   Q.   If I told you that the Madison County baseball field
  

14        were .5 miles, that's half a mile from the proposed
  

15        site, you'd have no independent knowledge to confirm
  

16        that?
  

17   A.   Correct.
  

18   Q.   You ever been to a baseball field?
  

19   A.   I have.
  

20   Q.   It's gets pretty dusty out there?
  

21   A.   It can.
  

22   Q.   Did you know that in your report, not your report, in
  

23        the CDC report they specifically say that children play
  

24        outdoors and sometime engage in hand-to-mouth behaviors
  

25        that increase their exposure potential?  Do you know
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 1        that?
  

 2   A.   I have seen children playing, that seems plausible.
  

 3   Q.   Yeah, yeah.  You've seen children playing at
  

 4        ballfields?
  

 5   A.   I have.
  

 6   Q.   Engaging in hand-to-mouth activity?
  

 7   A.   I may have eaten some dirt in my life.
  

 8   Q.   You know that they're at an increased risk, even
  

 9        according to your report, page 10, they're at an
  

10        increased risk, children?
  

11   A.   Right.  But I'll remind you that the --
  

12   Q.   And strike that, I didn't mean your report.  I said
  

13        that, but in the CDC report.  So go ahead --
  

14   A.   The CDC report.  So I'll remind everybody that the
  

15        North Carolina air toxics levels are protective of
  

16        sensitive groups and for those pollutants that are
  

17        subject to ending up on a ballfield and being ingested,
  

18        they take those into account when they establish those
  

19        health effects levels.
  

20   Q.   You acknowledge that -- well, do you know that the
  

21        quarry -- the quarries and the concrete plant both have
  

22        air quality permits?
  

23   A.   That's my understanding, yes.
  

24   Q.   And you acknowledge and you'll admit that the addition
  

25        of the asphalt plant is going to create a net increase
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 1        in the amount of pollutants that will discharged from
  

 2        that area?  And by -- go ahead, I'm sorry.
  

 3   A.   Right.  So there are certain pollutants that the
  

 4        asphalt plant will limit that are not emitted by those
  

 5        other two facilities.
  

 6   Q.   And there are certain pollutants that asphalt plant
  

 7        will emit that are admitted -- emitted by those other
  

 8        facilities?
  

 9   A.   True, but very small number.  I wouldn't limit that to
  

10        particulate.
  

11   Q.   Right.  Which is the dust that the board says has an
  

12        adverse effect on people that are aged and asthma.
  

13   A.   Right.
  

14   Q.   Right.  So there's going to be an increase of this
  

15        particulate matter when -- which affects sensitive
  

16        receptors who are children less than a half mile away.
  

17        The infirm, aged, Elderberry Nursing Home, five -- .56
  

18        miles away.
  

19   A.   Right.
  

20   Q.   Okay.
  

21   A.   So North Carolina's determined though, that for the
  

22        size of this plant or the other plants in the vicinity
  

23        that particulate modeling is not required.
  

24   Q.   Right, but does North Carolina -- North Carolina
  

25        doesn't consider them in the aggregate?  They didn't --
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 1        go ahead.
  

 2   A.   Generally, we do not consider those in the aggregate
  

 3        that they are separate facilities, that's correct.
  

 4   Q.   That's right.  And when you submitted your application
  

 5        you submitted it as a separate facility from the rock
  

 6        quarry and the concrete plant?
  

 7   A.   And that's -- that's how is should be submitted.
  

 8   Q.   Right.  And it's -- and so basically what you're saying
  

 9        is on one regard, well, they consider it if they're
  

10        part of the same facility.  But they didn't consider it
  

11        in this application because you submitted it as a
  

12        separate facility?
  

13   A.   Right.  And the facility says one of the primary bases
  

14        for that is who is the owner?
  

15   Q.   The owner of -- of what?
  

16   A.   Of the facility.  The owner-operator of the facility is
  

17        the person that receives the permit so it wouldn't be
  

18        appropriate for the quarry to get a permit for the
  

19        asphalt plant because they do not own or operate it.
  

20   Q.   No, but what that does is that it allows North Carolina
  

21        not to consider the two other pollutants that are being
  

22        discharged from the two other facilities when it
  

23        permits this application.
  

24   A.   That is how it's processed but North Carolina does have
  

25        authority to look at cumulative effects if they deem
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 1        that that's likely to be a problem.
  

 2   Q.   Did North Carolina look at this in a cumulative
  

 3        fashion?
  

 4   A.   They're still looking at the permit so they haven't
  

 5        made a final decision at this point.
  

 6   Q.   Did you submit -- is anything in your -- well, strike
  

 7        that.
  

 8             What regulations does North Carolina have for
  

 9        odor?
  

10   A.   They do have odor regulations that inhibit emitting of
  

11        noxious odors beyond the property boundary.
  

12   Q.   What regulations are those?
  

13   A.   I don't have a citation memorized that part but it's
  

14        one of the 2B or 2D regulations.
  

15   Q.   Yeah, 0405 something like that?
  

16   A.   Probably.
  

17   Q.   And in that regulation what is the, if it's enforced
  

18        and it's found that odor is leaving the site, what is
  

19        the penalty or what is the corrective measure?
  

20   A.   To prevent it from happening again.
  

21   Q.   In your plan and in your submission to the air quality
  

22        did you address odor and the potential for odor to
  

23        leave the site?
  

24   A.   We acknowledged that that regulation exists and given
  

25        the technology that's being used, that we're not
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 1        expecting that there's going to be observed -- of
  

 2        noxious odors.
  

 3   Q.   But if they do, if there are observed obnoxious odors,
  

 4        basically the enforcement is, hey, don't do it again?
  

 5   A.   The DEQ has authority to fine people for not being in
  

 6        emission limits or for releasing obnoxious odors.  They
  

 7        also have the ability to enforce people into a consent
  

 8        agreement to deal with that so it would be a legal
  

 9        agreement between DEQ and the facility to address those
  

10        odors.
  

11             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  May I ask a question?
  

12             MR. GULDEN:  Please.
  

13             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  In the conversation about wind
  

14                  and I have a question, does the plant's
  

15                  vicinity to the French Broad River, are you
  

16                  -- do you have an understanding of where the
  

17                  relationship is between the plant and the
  

18                  French Broad?
  

19             THE WITNESS:  Sure.  I mean, I haven't circled the
  

20                  site or been to the site but I've seen Google
  

21                  Earth images and aerial photographs of the
  

22                  area.
  

23             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  And recognizing that there is
  

24                  early morning dew, humidity in that general -
  

25                  - along that French Broad corridor and again
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 1                  in the late evening, what is the potential
  

 2                  impact of that humidity and particulates.
  

 3             THE WITNESS:  I can't think of any effects of the
  

 4                  river itself on dispersion or pollution.  The
  

 5                  fact that moisture is present shouldn't -- I
  

 6                  can give any effects related to that.
  

 7             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Okay.
  

 8             MR. BRIGGS:  How will a fog bank affect anything?
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  You know --
  

10             MR. BRIGGS:  It's foggy on the river and it hangs
  

11                  a while.
  

12             THE WITNESS:  Right, right.  So that's kind of
  

13                  similar to the inversion condition.  The
  

14                  model uses a variety of wind speeds and
  

15                  meteorological conditions.  It's not a
  

16                  weatherman but you know, inversions and what
  

17                  we would call very stable conditions.  And
  

18                  when we say stable we mean there's not a lot
  

19                  of wind, there's not a lot of mixing.  I
  

20                  would say fog and mist on the river would be
  

21                  those kind of stable conditions and the model
  

22                  has that as a meteorological input.  But the
  

23                  presence of fog itself, I can't think of an
  

24                  effect.  That's more of a consequence of the
  

25                  stability.  The air is cooling at the
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 1                  surface, causes fog.  If there's a lot of
  

 2                  wind the fog doesn't form or not as much
  

 3                  because it tends to get mixed up in
  

 4                  atmosphere.  But under low wind speeds,
  

 5                  stable conditions, you'll get fog, get these
  

 6                  inversion-like conditions.  The model
  

 7                  accounts for that.  The model will do
  

 8                  predictions based on that type of
  

 9                  meteorological data.
  

10             MR. TUZIW:  So the fog forms over the river it's
  

11                  going to hold particulates in if there's no
  

12                  wind?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  So I don't think the fog is
  

14                  really causing anything, it's just an effect
  

15                  of not having very good mixing conditions.
  

16             MR. TUZIW:  So those particulates are still being
  

17                  contained so where do they fall when they're
  

18                  over the river?
  

19             THE WITNESS:  So there's two types of particulates
  

20                  that can be emitted in a facility like this.
  

21                  We talked about fugitives earlier around the
  

22                  handling of the rock and those particulates
  

23                  tend to be very large.  They don't tend to
  

24                  travel very far.  They primarily stay within
  

25                  the quarry.  I'm not going to say that dust
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 1                  from the quarry is never, you know, been
  

 2                  observed outside of the quarry, but large
  

 3                  particles just don't travel very far because
  

 4                  they're heavy and they tend to fall out.
  

 5                       The other emission source is the
  

 6                  baghouse and it is extremely effective at
  

 7                  removing large particles and it's very
  

 8                  effective at removing smaller particles.  In
  

 9                  general, the baghouse will remove practically
  

10                  everything that's larger than 10 microns in
  

11                  diameter.  So the things that are actually
  

12                  being emitted by that baghouse are going to
  

13                  have a diameter of less than 10 microns.  And
  

14                  that's -- that's very, very small.  Those
  

15                  particles don't tend to settle out, they tend
  

16                  to just float through the air because it
  

17                  doesn't take much to suspend them.  But
  

18                  they're getting so small that they -- they
  

19                  begin to act like the other elements that are
  

20                  in air, nitrogen, oxygen, carbon dioxide.
  

21                  They're so -- they're getting so small that
  

22                  they begin to behave like molecules instead
  

23                  of like heavy particles that settle.
  

24             MR. TUZIW:  So -- so a light breeze could still
  

25                  transport them to the river?
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 1             THE WITNESS:  They -- they would transport those
  

 2                  small particles to the river.  Those small
  

 3                  particles travel over regional areas and I
  

 4                  mean, they cross state boundaries.  Because
  

 5                  they're so small they don't really ever
  

 6                  settle out.
  

 7             MR. TUZIW:  They may travel even farther once
  

 8                  they're in the river.
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  So if you have a very stable
  

10                  condition they would tend to just, yeah, sort
  

11                  of accumulate in this area until there's some
  

12                  wind to break it up and move it away and mix
  

13                  it into the higher atmosphere.
  

14             MR. RAMSEY:  Those particles that you're talking
  

15                  about, they blow away and land in the grass,
  

16                  is that cumulative?  Will they accumulate,
  

17                  does it build up over time?
  

18             THE WITNESS:  Again, they're very small particles,
  

19                  aren't going to deposit on the ground,
  

20                  they're going to stay airborne.  Once they --
  

21             MR. RAMSEY:  Are there any particles that -- say,
  

22                  at the nursing home or the daycare, the
  

23                  opposing attorney here has brought up the
  

24                  particles that -- the kids hand-to-mouth
  

25                  stuff for the safety reasons and stuff.  Is
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 1                  that dust, is any of that going to float over
  

 2                  to the playground and land and become
  

 3                  cumulative?  Will it accumulate and stack up,
  

 4                  stack?  Will it accumulate over time and be a
  

 5                  hazard over 30 years?
  

 6             THE WITNESS:  No.  I wouldn't expect it's going to
  

 7                  accumulate because those particles are going
  

 8                  to tend to blow by that area and then keep
  

 9                  moving.  They're not going to tend to
  

10                  precipitate in that area because they're very
  

11                  small.  It doesn't take much wind to get them
  

12                  moving and back in the air again.
  

13             MR. RAMSEY:  I'm just confused about this CDC
  

14                  report that you've got and why they're saying
  

15                  it's dangerous for kids to -- hand-to-mouth
  

16                  stuff.  I'm confused about that and I'm
  

17                  trying to clarify that up if it's dangerous
  

18                  to kids playing on the playground.
  

19             THE WITNESS:  So the houses are much closer in
  

20                  that study than in this proposed location and
  

21                  we don't fully know what level of controls
  

22                  they had at that facility.  You know, we can
  

23                  employ and will employ, you know, the current
  

24                  baghouse technology and other measures to
  

25                  reduce those fugitive dust particles from
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 1                  getting offsite.  But -- but the fugitive
  

 2                  dust particles are rock, you know, that's --
  

 3                  that's ground-up granite so that's no
  

 4                  different than what you would have in your
  

 5                  driveway or --
  

 6             MR. TUZIW:  You talked about precipitating --
  

 7                  precipitation, rain and runoff.  We just
  

 8                  recently had over five to seven inches of
  

 9                  rain, depending where you were in the region.
  

10                  How will that runoff affect the plant the
  

11                  eventual river that it will all be running
  

12                  off into?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  Right.  So those exposure levels
  

14                  that we talked about in North Carolina that
  

15                  allow the ambient concentrations protecting
  

16                  human health is a much higher or much more
  

17                  difficult standard to meet than what the
  

18                  river would be exposed to.  So a person
  

19                  standing in the property boundary is kind of
  

20                  what we're modeling.  So they stand at that
  

21                  property boundary every hour of the day, 365
  

22                  days a year, what the river's going to see is
  

23                  much lower concentration.  And from a dust
  

24                  standpoint, you know, North Carolina has
  

25                  decided that if you're less than 100 tons per
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 1                  year or in this case, you know, less than 250
  

 2                  tons per year of the particulate, you don't
  

 3                  have to do any modeling for particulate.
  

 4             MR. TUZIW:  So in this plan is there -- I'm sorry,
  

 5                  you want to ask a question?
  

 6             MR. RAMSEY:  I got one behind you, go ahead.
  

 7             MR. TUZIW:  In this plan is there -- I understand
  

 8                  what the state requires and what logic
  

 9                  requires; sometimes they're not always the
  

10                  same thing.  Is there a plan in place for a
  

11                  retention pond with the proximity of the
  

12                  river and the fact that we have runoffs?
  

13             THE WITNESS:  So there -- there is a small
  

14                  containment area that's part of the design,
  

15                  that will be part of the design.  I'm not --
  

16                  I'm not intimately familiar with the
  

17                  stormwater discharge at the quarry, but my
  

18                  understanding is the stormwater discharge
  

19                  from Madison Asphalt will eventually come and
  

20                  go with the quarry's stormwater discharge and
  

21                  I assume they have some sort of retention
  

22                  pond.
  

23             MR. TUZIW:  Let me follow up and I'll give it to
  

24                  you.  On this map I don't see anywhere where
  

25                  this small retention --
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 1             THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I apologize it's not on that
  

 2                  map.  I've seen --
  

 3             MR. TUZIW:  Well, where would it be on this map?
  

 4             THE WITNESS:  I can't remember the location but
  

 5                  it's -- it's within the footprint boundary of
  

 6                  the facility.
  

 7             MR. RAMSEY:  I'm still confused about your report,
  

 8                  the CDC.  I'm trying to get this clear in my
  

 9                  mind.  You're saying it's okay but the
  

10                  report's saying it's not okay and I'm -- I'm
  

11                  confused about -- I just want to clear this
  

12                  up whether it's -- is it safe or is it not
  

13                  safe for -- because we do, we have nursing
  

14                  homes, we have a daycare really close.  Is it
  

15                  safe for those kids to be playing on the
  

16                  playground or not?  And I don't know, are you
  

17                  qualified to tell me that?  I'm -- I'm trying
  

18                  to figure this out from the CDC report, can
  

19                  you --
  

20             THE WITNESS:  Right.  So the CDC report, I
  

21                  acknowledge, has two conclusions that appear
  

22                  to be in conflict, right.  I told you that
  

23                  it's safe.  It's safe for a certain set of
  

24                  pollutants that they talked about, the
  

25                  volatile organic compounds, the PAHs, the
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 1                  toxic air pollutants.  They're saying for
  

 2                  those components it's safe and our air
  

 3                  dispersion modeling now that we did for
  

 4                  Madison Asphalt also indicated that it's safe
  

 5                  for those compounds as well.  Now, the report
  

 6                  also says --
  

 7             MR. RAMSEY:  It's not safe.
  

 8             THE WITNESS:  -- it's not safe for particulates,
  

 9                  for dust, that there were levels of dust.  So
  

10                  not these other pollutants but just dust.
  

11                  There were levels of this dust that were
  

12                  potentially concerning for them but they
  

13                  didn't want to say that there are measures
  

14                  that you can take to prevent that dust from
  

15                  going offsite.  And that's, you know,
  

16                  preventing these fugitives, keeping the dust
  

17                  down --
  

18             MR. RAMSEY:  So will the fugitives -- will it make
  

19                  it to our daycare and will it make it to our
  

20                  nursing home or will it not?  Is it safe or
  

21                  is not safe?
  

22             THE WITNESS:  So with the proper procedures in
  

23                  place to keep the plant from being dusty,
  

24                  those emissions, those fugitive dust
  

25                  emissions are not going to impact the daycare
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 1                  center or the nursing home or any homes.
  

 2                  They can easily, and I shouldn't say easily,
  

 3                  it's -- it's costly, but they can be
  

 4                  controlled and kept from going offsite.
  

 5             MR. BRIGGS:  Did -- the plant design in Salisbury,
  

 6                  what is different about the design of this
  

 7                  plant that they had problems.  I know the
  

 8                  homes were closer.
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  So that's -- right, that's the two
  

10                  things I would say, the homes were closer and
  

11                  we don't know to what extent they were
  

12                  managing their fugitive emissions.
  

13             MR. BRIGGS:  What's different in their plant
  

14                  design than this one?
  

15             THE WITNESS:  It's also batch mix plant which EPA
  

16                  says has 25 percent more particulate than a
  

17                  continuous mix plant.
  

18             MR. BRIGGS:  So kind of comparing apples and
  

19                  oranges?
  

20             THE WITNESS:  A little bit, yeah.  I would agree
  

21                  with that.  So the raw material asphalt that
  

22                  they would use is the same, it's just the
  

23                  method that they make their product is
  

24                  different.
  

25             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  It is 9:30 and how -- do you
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 1                  have an idea how much longer you need?
  

 2             MR. GULDEN:  If I just have a few more minutes I
  

 3                  can get Mr. Vandenmeiracker off the stand.
  

 4                  Just a couple more minutes.
  

 5             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  We can go a few more minutes so
  

 6                  he doesn't have to come back?  Okay.
  

 7   BY MR. GULDEN:
  

 8   Q.   I'm going to put up -- Mr. Vandenmeiracker, if you'll
  

 9        come step down here so you can look at these pictures
  

10        with me.
  

11   A.   Sure.
  

12   Q.   You're talking about containment, you talked about
  

13        containment and erosion control and that you're
  

14        assuming that the runoff from the -- strike that, the
  

15        runoff from the asphalt plant was going to be contained
  

16        by the quarry's system.  Can that happen?  Have you
  

17        been out there at that site?
  

18   A.   No, I have not.
  

19   Q.   When you designed the plan, what did you use to
  

20        anticipate erosion control or stormwater maintenance?
  

21   A.   So I did not design --
  

22             MR. SNEED:  Objection.
  

23   A.   -- the stormwater plan.
  

24   Q.   Is there a stormwater plan out there?
  

25   A.   I don't know.  I assume based on the type of facility
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 1        that the quarry does have a stormwater plan.
  

 2   Q.   And so if I show you --
  

 3   A.   And --
  

 4   Q.   -- that --
  

 5   A.   -- I'm an air guy.
  

 6   Q.   I know but you got me so far into this.  Right, so you
  

 7        -- so you're assuming, so if I have -- I'll represent
  

 8        to you that this is the proposed site facility, you see
  

 9        all these little -- what is that right there, that
  

10        little rivulets made by stormwater runoff -- and if I
  

11        showed you this picture representing to you that this
  

12        is what came off on that Friday afternoon, this came
  

13        off of the proposed site, you see that?  It's really
  

14        hard to see.  That's -- that's the runoff from the
  

15        creek that crosses the road and entered the French
  

16        Broad River underneath the road.  The French Broad
  

17        River's back there, you see that?  Is that stormwater
  

18        rain you're talking about that's going collect all the
  

19        --
  

20             MR. SNEED:  I object.  I object.  That's
  

21                  argumentative.
  

22             MR. GULDEN:  Yeah, you're right.  It absolutely is
  

23                  and I apologize.  I'll withdraw that
  

24                  question.
  

25   Q.   You don't know anything about stormwater and where it's
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 1        going to go?
  

 2   A.   I won't say I don't know anything about stormwater.
  

 3        Water tends to go downhill but -- I don't -- I don't
  

 4        think you would allow me to testify about stormwater.
  

 5   Q.   Would not.  Last quick question that you had in
  

 6        relation to the some of the questions that the board
  

 7        had.  Those fine particulate matters, really fine
  

 8        particulate matters that don't settle on the ground and
  

 9        that hang out in the air, those are the ones that are
  

10        really fine that you breathe in that cause all kinds of
  

11        problems with your lungs?  Those fine particulate
  

12        matters?
  

13   A.   Those are the ones that EPA and health, that's the most
  

14        concern with that if they had high enough concentration
  

15        they'd do damage.
  

16   Q.   And so if they float around under an inversion, around
  

17        the river, and kids are out there playing, people, you,
  

18        me, we're out there on the river, we're breathing in
  

19        those fine particulate matters because it's not
  

20        settling to the ground, it's right here in the air I
  

21        breathe, I may have an adverse acute effect of that
  

22        fine particulate matter which is just floating around
  

23        in the air that came from the proposed asphalt plant?
  

24   A.   In my opinion, the amount of fine particulate emitted
  

25        from this plant is not likely to cause an adverse
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 1        impact.  I will acknowledge that PM 2.5 does cause the
  

 2        symptoms that you're talking about, but relative to
  

 3        other permitting projects where I've had to model PM
  

 4        2.5, this is a very small amount of emissions.
  

 5   Q.   Still, it will leave some emissions, PM 2.5?
  

 6   A.   But there is a safe level.  Not, you know, not one
  

 7        particle will cause an issue, it has to be at a certain
  

 8        concentration.
  

 9   Q.   But this asphalt plant will increase that level in this
  

10        area around the ballfields, around Elderberry, around
  

11        the daycare facility?
  

12   A.   That's right.
  

13   Q.   Okay.
  

14             MR. GULDEN:  Those would be my questions, Madam
  

15                  Chair.
  

16             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Thank you.  Oh, one more.
  

17             MR. RAMSEY:  I want to go back to again, the
  

18                  nursing home because we do have -- we do have
  

19                  people, not the best health situations.  Can
  

20                  you tell me it's going to be safe for them to
  

21                  breathe that?  I mean, the particulate levels
  

22                  that you're saying it's going to be at?
  

23             THE WITNESS:  We haven't predicted any particulate
  

24                  concentrations at those locations so I can't
  

25                  tell you what that concentration is going to
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 1                  be.  We're not required to do that by permit.
  

 2             MR. RAMSEY:  Is it safe for those people?  That's
  

 3                  what -- that's a concern of mine, if it's
  

 4                  safe for the elderly.
  

 5             MR. TUZIW:  Would you put your grandparents in
  

 6                  that home?
  

 7             THE WITNESS:  I would have no problem doing that.
  

 8             MR. GULDEN:  Do you have grandparents?
  

 9             THE WITNESS:  When they were alive I would -- I
  

10                  would have --
  

11             MR. GULDEN:  Sorry to interrupt.
  

12             THE WITNESS:  My mom would not appreciate me
  

13                  saying that she's elderly, but I would not
  

14                  have a problem with my mother being there.
  

15             CHAIRMAN KIEHNA:  Okay.  We're going to continue
  

16                  and we need to come together to determine on
  

17                  what date and times to continue the meeting.
  

18             (WHEREUPON, this proceeding on April 24, 2019, was
  

19                  concluded at 9:37 P.M.; to be continued on
  

20                  May 6, 2019)
  

21                       * * * * * * * * * *
  

22
  

23
  

24
  

25
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   STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA)
                          )      C E R T I F I C A T E
   COUNTY OF RUTHERFORD   )
  
  
                  I, Marianne S. Aguirre, Verbatim Reporter and
  
   Notary Public, do hereby certify that the aforesaid
  
   testimony was transcribed by me and that the foregoing pages
  
   constitute a verbatim and complete transcription of the
  
   testimony conducted herein as can be obtained from the audio
  
   record thereof.
  
                  I do further certify that I am not of counsel
  
   for or in the employment of any parties to this action, nor
  
   do I have any interest, financial or otherwise, in the
  
   outcome thereof.
  
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto
  
   subscribed my name, this the 6th day of June, 2019.
  
  
  
                            ______________________________
                            Marianne S. Aguirre
                            Notary No.: 19961490099
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